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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

SCHEDULE 13D

(Rule 13d-101)

INFORMATION TO BE INCLUDED IN STATEMENTS FILED PURSUANT

TO RULE 13d-1(a) AND AMENDMENTS THERETO FILED

PURSUANT TO RULE 13d-2(a)

Under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Akebia Therapeutics, Inc.

(Name of issuer)

Common Stock, par value $0.00001

(Title of class of securities)

00972D105

(CUSIP number)

Muneer A. Satter
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c/o Satter Management Co., L.P.

676 N. Michigan Avenue, Suite 4000, Chicago, IL 60611

(312) 448-5500

COPY TO:

Robert M. Hayward, P.C.

Kirkland & Ellis LLP

300 N. LaSalle St.

Chicago, Illinois 60654

(312) 862-2000

(Name, Address and Telephone Number of Person Authorized to Receive Notices and Communications)

July 5, 2017

(Date of Event which Requires Filing of this Statement)

If the filing person has previously filed a statement on Schedule 13G to report the acquisition that is the subject of this
Schedule 13D, and is filing this schedule because of Rule 13d-1(e), 13d-1(f) or 13d-1(g), check the following box.  ☐

Note: Schedules filed in paper format shall include a signed original and five copies of the schedule, including all
exhibits. See Rule 13d-7 for other parties to whom copies are to be sent.

*
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The remainder of this cover page shall be filled out for a reporting person�s initial filing on this form with respect
to the subject class of securities, and for any subsequent amendment containing information which would alter
disclosures provided in a prior cover page.

The information required on the remainder of this cover page shall not be deemed to be �filed� for the purpose of
Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (�Act�) or otherwise subject to the liabilities of that section of the Act
but shall be subject to all other provisions of the Act (however, see the Notes).
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SCHEDULE 13D

CUSIP No. 00972D105 Page 2 of 7
Explanatory Note: The Reporting Person has previously filed statements on Schedule 13G with respect to his
ownership of the Issuer�s common stock. As a result of the recent purchase of shares in the Issuer�s registered public
offering described in this Schedule 13D, the Reporting Person acquired more than 2% of the Issuer�s outstanding
common stock during the past 12 months and, therefore, is no longer eligible to report his ownership of common stock
on Schedule 13G on an annual basis. This Schedule 13D is not being filed because of a change in investment intent.

  (1)  Names of reporting persons

Muneer A. Satter
  (2) Check the appropriate box if a member of a group (see instructions)

(a)  ☐        (b)  ☐

  (3) SEC use only

  (4) Source of funds (see instructions)

PF; OO
  (5) Check if Disclosure of Legal Proceedings Is Required Pursuant to Items 2(d) or 2(e)  ☐

  (6) Citizenship or place of organization

United States of America
Number of

shares

beneficially

owned by

each

reporting

  (7) Sole voting power

3,054,542 shares (see Item 5(a))
  (8) Shared voting power

0 shares
  (9) Sole dispositive power
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person

with: 3,054,542 shares (see Item 5(a))
(10) Shared dispositive power

0 shares
(11)  Aggregate amount beneficially owned by each reporting person

3,054,542 shares (see Item 5(a))
(12) Check if the aggregate amount in Row (11) excludes certain shares (see instructions)  ☐

(13) Percent of class represented by amount in Row (11)

6.48%
(14) Type of reporting person (see instructions)

IN
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SCHEDULE 13D

CUSIP No. 00972D105 Page 3 of 7

Item 1. Security and Issuer.
The class of equity security to which this Schedule 13D relates is the common stock, par value $0.00001 per share
(the �Common Stock�), of Akebia Therapeutics, Inc. (the �Company�). The principal executive offices of the Company are
located at 245 First Street, Suite 1100, Cambridge, MA 02142.

Item 2. Identity and Background.
(a) Muneer A. Satter (the �Reporting Person�).

(b) The address of the principal business office of the Reporting Person is c/o Satter Management Co., L.P., 676 N.
Michigan Avenue, Suite 4000, Chicago IL, 60611.

(c) The Reporting Person is Founder and Managing Partner of Satter Medical Technology Partners, L.P. (�SMTP�) or
one of its affiliates, a private equity fund, and Chairman of Satter Investment Management LLC, a family office and
private investment firm. The principal business of the Reporting Person is to make investments in both private and
public companies in the medical technology industry (broadly defined to include biotech, medical devices and
healthcare services) on behalf of SMTP and various trusts and other entities affiliated with the Reporting Person.

(d)-(e) During the last five years, the Reporting Person (and any general partner or controlling member of the various
trusts and other entities affiliated with the Reporting Person) has not been convicted in a criminal proceeding
(excluding traffic violations or similar misdemeanors). During the last five years, the Reporting Person (and any
general partner or controlling member of the various trusts and other entities affiliated with the Reporting Person) has
not been party to a civil proceeding of a judicial or administrative body of competent jurisdiction and as a result of
such proceeding was or is subject to a judgment, decree or final order enjoining future violations of, or prohibiting or
mandating activities subject to, federal or state securities laws or finding any violation with respect to such laws.

(f) The Reporting Person is a citizen of the United States of America.

Item 3. Source and Amount of Funds.
On July 5, 2017, the Company closed a registered public offering of 4,600,000 shares of Common Stock, at a
purchase price of $14.50 per share. The Reporting Person acquired beneficial ownership of 1,034,482 shares of
Common Stock in the offering for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $15.0 million. The source of funds
for the acquisition of shares in the offering was capital committed by the partners of SMTP.

The Reporting Person has previously filed statements on Schedule 13G with respect to his ownership of the Common
Stock. As a result of the purchase of shares in the Company�s registered public offering, the Reporting Person acquired
more than 2% of the Company�s outstanding Common Stock during the past 12 months and, therefore, is no longer
eligible to report his ownership on Schedule 13G on annual basis.
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Item 4. Purpose of the Transaction.
The Reporting Person has acquired beneficial ownership of the Common Stock for investment purposes, and such
acquisition has been made in the Reporting Person�s ordinary course of business.

In pursuing such investment purposes, the Reporting Person may further purchase, hold, vote, trade, dispose of or
otherwise deal in the Common Stock at such times, and in such manner, as he deems advisable to benefit from
changes in the market prices of such Common Stock, changes in the Company�s operations, business strategy or
prospects, or from a sale or merger of the Company or otherwise. To evaluate such alternatives, the Reporting Person
will routinely monitor the Company�s operations, prospects, business development, management, competitive and
strategic matters, capital structure, and prevailing market conditions, as well as alternative investment opportunities,
liquidity objectives and other investment considerations. Furthermore, in his capacity as a member of the Company�s
board of directors and a significant shareholder, the Reporting Person will from time to time discuss various matters
with management and other directors of the Company, other shareholders, industry analysts, existing or potential
strategic partners or competitors, investment and financing professionals, sources of credit and other investors.
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SCHEDULE 13D

CUSIP No. 00972D105 Page 4 of 7

The Reporting Person has no current intention to propose changes in the Company�s operations, governance or
capitalization, or to propose one or more of the other actions described in subsections (a) through (j) of Item 4 of
Schedule 13D. However, the Reporting Person reserves the right to formulate other plans and/or make other
proposals, and take such actions with respect to his investment in the Company, including any or all of the actions set
forth in paragraphs (a) through (j) of Item 4 of Schedule 13D, or to acquire additional shares of Common Stock or
dispose of all the Common Stock beneficially owned by him, in the public market, in privately negotiated transactions
(which may be with the Company or with third parties) or otherwise. The Reporting Person may at any time
reconsider and change his plans or proposals relating to the foregoing.

Item 5. Interest in Securities of the Issuer.

(a) Amount beneficially owned as of the date hereof:
The Reporting Person beneficially owns an aggregate of 3,054,542 shares of Common Stock. The shares of Common
Stock beneficially owned by the Reporting Person include (a) 785,340 shares of Common Stock that are held by
Muneer A. Satter Revocable Trust for which the Reporting Person serves as trustee and, in such capacity, has sole
voting and dispositive power over all such shares; (b) 1,217,220 shares of Common Stock that are held by various
other trusts and other entities for which the Reporting Person serves as trustee, investment advisor or manager and, in
such capacity, has sole voting and dispositive power over all such shares; (c) 1,034,482 shares that are held by SMTP
for which the Reporting Person has sole voting and dispositive power over all such shares; and (d) stock options to
purchase 17,500 shares of Common Stock. The Reporting Person also holds stock options to purchase 12,500 shares
of Common Stock, which vest on the first anniversary of the date of grant (June 15, 2018).

Percent of class:

In the aggregate, the Reporting Persons beneficially own 3,054,542 shares of Common Stock, or 6.48% of the total
number of shares of Common Stock outstanding.

All percentages calculated in this Schedule 13D are based upon 47,086,883 shares outstanding as of July 5, 2017.

(b) Number of shares as to which such person has:

(i) sole power to vote or to direct the vote: See Item 7 on the cover page hereto.

(ii) shared power to vote or to direct the vote: See Item 8 on the cover page hereto.
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(iii) sole power to dispose or to direct the disposition of: See Item 9 on the cover page hereto.

(iv) shared power to dispose or to direct the disposition of: See Item 10 on the cover page hereto.

(c) The information set forth in Item 3 of this Schedule 13D is hereby incorporated by reference into this
Item 5(c), as applicable.

(d) Not applicable

(e) Not applicable

Item 6. Contracts, Arrangements, Understandings or Relationships with Respect to Securities of the Issuer.
The information set forth in Items 3 and 4 of this Schedule 13D is hereby incorporated by reference into this Item 6, as
applicable.

Pursuant to the Company�s fourth amended and restated investors� rights agreement, certain holders of Common Stock,
including the Reporting Person, various trusts and other entities affiliated with the Reporting Person and SMTP, are
entitled to demand registration rights, Form S-3 registration rights and piggyback registration rights. These
registration rights are subject to conditions and limitations, including the right, in certain circumstances, of the
underwriters of an offering to limit the number of shares included in such
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SCHEDULE 13D

CUSIP No. 00972D105 Page 5 of 7

registration and the Company�s right, in certain circumstances, not to effect a requested S-1 or S-3 registration within
60 days before or 180 days following the Company�s estimated date of filing of a registration statement pertaining to
an underwritten public offering of securities for the account of an offering of our securities.

Under the terms of the investors� rights agreement, the holders of at least 30% of the registrable shares may require the
Company to file a registration statement on Form S-1 under the Securities Act at its expense with respect to the resale
of such holder�s registrable shares as soon as practicable, and in any event within 60 days after the date of the request
for registration. The Company is required to effect only two registrations pursuant to this provision of the investors�
rights agreement.

Under the terms of the investors� rights agreement, if the Company is eligible to file a registration statement on Form
S-3, the holders of at least 30% of the registrable shares may require the Company to file a registration statement on
Form S-3 at its expense with respect to the resale of such holder�s registrable shares as soon as practicable, and in any
event within 45 days after the date of the request for registration. The Company is required to effect only three
registrations pursuant to this provision of the investors� rights agreement.

Under the terms of the investors� rights agreement, if the Company proposes to register any of its common stock under
the Securities Act in connection with the public offering of such securities solely for cash except for certain excluded
registrations, the holders of registrable shares are entitled to notice of such registration and to request that the
Company includes registrable shares for resale on such registration statement, subject to the Company�s right to
terminate or withdraw any registration the Company initiates prior to its effective date and the right of any underwriter
to limit the number of shares included in such registration.

The Company will pay all expenses relating to any demand, Form S-3 or piggyback registration, other than
underwriting discounts, selling commissions and stock transfer taxes applicable to the sale of registrable securities,
subject to specified conditions and limitations.

The description of the investors� rights agreement included in this Schedule 13D does not purport to be a complete
description and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of such agreement, which is filed as part of this
Schedule 13D and incorporated by reference herein.

Item 7. Material to be Filed as Exhibits.

Exhibit A: Fourth Amended and Restated Investors� Rights Agreement, as amended (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.9 to the Company�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on March 4,
2014)
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SIGNATURE

After reasonable inquiry and to the best of my knowledge and belief, I certify that the information set forth in this
statement is true, complete and correct.

Date: July 14, 2017

By: /s/ Muneer A. Satter
Muneer A. Satter
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit A: Fourth Amended and Restated Investors� Rights Agreement, as amended (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.9 to the Company�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on March 4, 2014)

ONT> 

�
publicity regarding actual or potential study results or the outcome of regulatory review relating to products under development by us, our
partners or our competitors;

�
regulatory developments in the United States and foreign countries;

�
economic and other external factors beyond our control, such as the ongoing global financial crisis;

�
sales of stock by us or by our stockholders, including sales by certain of our employees and directors whether or not pursuant to written
pre-determined selling plans under Rule 10b5-1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, some of which plans are currently in effect, such as
plans adopted by our employees to sell shares to cover taxes due upon the quarterly vesting of restricted stock units, and other plans which may
be entered into; and

�
potential sales or purchases of our capital stock by GSK.
Concentration of ownership will limit your ability to influence corporate matters.

        As of February 17, 2009, GSK beneficially owned approximately 15.1% of our outstanding capital stock and our directors, executive
officers and investors affiliated with these individuals beneficially owned approximately 13.7% of our outstanding capital stock. These
stockholders could substantially control the outcome of actions taken by us that require stockholder approval. In addition, pursuant to our
governance agreement with GSK, GSK currently has the right to nominate one member of our board of directors. For these reasons, GSK could
have substantial influence in the election of our directors, delay or prevent a transaction in which stockholders might receive a premium over the
prevailing market price for their shares and have significant control over changes in our business.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter and bylaws, in our rights agreement and in Delaware law could prevent or delay a change in
control of our company.

        Provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may discourage, delay or prevent a merger or acquisition that stockholders may
consider favorable, including transactions in which you might otherwise receive a premium for your shares. These provisions include:

�
requiring supermajority stockholder voting to effect certain amendments to our certificate of incorporation and bylaws;

�
restricting the ability of stockholders to call special meetings of stockholders;

�
prohibiting stockholder action by written consent; and

�
establishing advance notice requirements for nominations for election to the board of directors or for proposing matters that
can be acted on by stockholders at stockholder meetings.

        In addition, our board of directors has adopted a rights agreement that may prevent or delay a change in control of us. Further, some
provisions of Delaware law may also discourage, delay or prevent someone from acquiring us or merging with us.
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 ITEM 1B.    UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None

 ITEM 2.    PROPERTIES

        Our headquarters are located in South San Francisco, CA, and consist of two leased buildings of approximately 110,000 and 60,000 square
feet, respectively. The leases expire in March 2012 and may be extended for two additional five-year periods. The current annual rental expense
under these leases is approximately $6.3 million, subject to annual increases.

 ITEM 3.    LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

        We are not a party to any material legal proceedings.

 ITEM 4.    SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

        No matters were submitted to a vote of stockholders during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year covered by this report.

31
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 PART II

 ITEM 5.    MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

        Our common stock has been traded on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol "THRX" since October 5, 2004. The following table
sets forth the high and low closing prices of our common stock on a per share basis for the periods indicated and as reported on the Nasdaq
Global Market:

Calendar Quarter High Low
2008
First Quarter $22.21 $ 9.40
Second Quarter $14.23 $11.16
Third Quarter $16.82 $12.16
Fourth Quarter $12.40 $ 5.77
2007
First Quarter $36.74 $29.22
Second Quarter $36.81 $28.74
Third Quarter $33.13 $24.44
Fourth Quarter $27.99 $19.33

        As of February 17, 2009, there were 237 stockholders of record of our common stock. There is no established public trading market for our
Class A common stock, all of which is owned by GSK. We did not make any unregistered sales of equity securities during the fourth quarter of
2008.

Dividend Policy

        We currently intend to retain any future earnings to finance our research and development efforts. We have never declared or paid cash
dividends and do not intend to declare or pay cash dividends on our common stock or Class A common stock in the foreseeable future.

Equity Compensation Plans

        The following table provides certain information with respect to all of our equity compensation plans in effect as of December 31, 2008:

Number of
securities
to be issued

upon
exercise of
outstanding
options,

warrants and
rights

Weighted-average
exercise price of
outstanding
options,

warrants and
rights

Number of
securities
remaining
available
for future
issuance

under equity
compensation

plans
(excluding
securities
reflected in
column (a))

Plan Category (a) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders 12,015,637(1) $ 16.20(3) 2,196,916(4)
Equity compensation plans not approved
by security holders 197,626(2) 6.31(3) 302,374

Total 12,213,263(1)(2) $ 16.01(3) 2,499,290(4)
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(1)
Includes 9,760,633 shares issuable upon exercise of outstanding options and 2,255,004 shares issuable upon vesting of outstanding
restricted stock units.
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(2)
Includes 192,250 shares issuable upon exercise of outstanding options and 5,376 shares issuable upon vesting of outstanding restricted
stock units.

(3)
Does not take into account outstanding restricted stock units as these awards have no exercise price.

(4)
Includes 830,215 shares of common stock available under our Employee Stock Purchase Plan, including 550,000 shares approved by
the Compensation Committee of our board of directors on December 10, 2008 and subject to stockholders' approval at the annual
stockholders' meeting in April 2009.

        The Theravance, Inc. 2008 New Employee Equity Incentive Plan is a non-stockholder approved plan, which was adopted by the Board of
Directors on January 29, 2008 and is intended to satisfy the requirements of Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 4350. Non-statutory options, restricted
stock units, and restricted stock awards may be granted under the New Employee Equity Incentive Plan to our employees. The Board has
authorized 500,000 shares of Common Stock for issuance under the New Employee Equity Incentive Plan. All option grants will have an
exercise price per share of no less than 100% of the fair market value per share of Common Stock on the grant date. Each option, restricted stock
unit and restricted stock award will vest in installments over the holder's period of service. Additional features of the New Employee Equity
Incentive Plan are outlined in Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Stock Performance Graph

        The graph set forth below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock for the period commencing on October 5,
2004 and ending on December 31, 2008, with the cumulative total return of (i) the Nasdaq Composite Index and (ii) the AMEX Biotechnology
Index, over the same period. This graph assumes the investment of $100.00 on October 5, 2004 in our common stock and $100.00 on
September 30, 2004 in the Nasdaq Composite Index and the AMEX Biotechnology Index, and assumes the reinvestment of dividends, if any,
although dividends have never been declared on our common stock.

        The comparisons shown in the graph below are based upon historical data. We caution that the stock price performance shown in the graph
below is not necessarily indicative of, nor is it intended to forecast, the potential future performance of our common stock. Information used in
the graph was obtained from Research Data Group, Inc., a source believed to be reliable, but we are not responsible for any errors or omissions
in such information.

        Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in any of our previous or future filings under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, that might incorporate this Annual Report on Form 10-K or future filings made by us under
those statutes, this Stock Performance Graph section shall not be deemed filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission and
shall not be deemed incorporated by reference into any of those prior filings or into any future filings made by us under those statutes.
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 COMPARISON OF 51 MONTH CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Theravance, Inc., The NASDAQ Composite Index

And The AMEX Biotechnology Index

*
$100 invested on 10/5/04 in stock & 9/30/04 in index-including reinvestment of dividends.

Fiscal year ending December 31.
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 ITEM 6.    SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

        The following tables reflect selected consolidated summary financial data for each of the last five fiscal years and are derived from our
audited financial statements. This data should be read in conjunction with Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data", and with
Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
(in thousands, except per share data)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF OPERATIONS DATA:
Revenue $ 23,096 $ 22,002 $ 19,587 $ 12,054 $ 8,940
Operating expenses:
Research and development(1) 82,020 155,254 166,564 137,936 91,627
General and administrative(1) 28,861 35,313 32,193 23,674 23,708
Restructuring charges 5,419 � � � �

Total operating expenses 116,300 190,567 198,757 161,610 115,335

Loss from operations (93,204) (168,565) (179,170) (149,556) (106,395)
Interest and other income, net 5,242 8,661 13,319 6,687 4,326
Interest expense (5,681) (93) (193) (295) (585)

Net loss $ (93,643) $(159,997) $(166,044) $(143,164) $(102,654)

Basic and diluted net loss per common
share $ (1.53) $ (2.64) $ (2.81) $ (2.69) $ (3.08)

Shares used in computing net loss per
common share(2)(3)(4)(5) 61,390 60,498 59,013 53,270 33,283

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE
SHEET DATA:
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable
securities $ 200,605 $ 129,272 $ 235,570 $ 200,009 $ 257,141
Working capital 166,006 78,554 147,582 118,677 231,661
Total assets 236,156 161,983 262,424 224,835 286,022
Long-term liabilities(6) 327,150 172,714 139,505 117,078 61,717
Accumulated deficit (1,031,452) (937,809) (777,812) (611,768) (468,604)
Total stockholders' equity (net capital
deficiency) (134,949) (66,264) 63,310 59,584 190,367

(1)
Stock-based compensation, consisting of stock-based compensation expense under SFAS 123(R), the amortization of deferred
stock-based compensation and the value of options issued to non-employees for services rendered, is allocated as follows (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
Research and development $10,264 $13,133 $12,635 $3,259 $4,631
General and administrative 7,755 9,361 9,196 2,364 3,890

Total stock-based compensation $18,019 $22,494 $21,831 $5,623 $8,521
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(2)
In May 2004, all shares of convertible preferred stock were converted into common stock.
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(3)
In May 2004, GSK, through an affiliate, purchased approximately 6.4 million shares of Class A common stock for $108.9 million.

(4)
On October 5, 2004, we completed its initial public offering with the sale of 7,072,500 shares of common stock. Net proceeds, after
underwriters' commissions and offering expenses, totaled $102.1 million. Contemporaneously with the closing of its initial public
offering, the Company sold 433,757 shares of its Class A common stock to an affiliate of GSK in a private transaction for total
proceeds of $6.9 million.

(5)
In February 2006, we completed its secondary offering with the sale of 5,200,000 shares of common stock. Net proceeds, after
underwriters' commission and offering expenses, totaled $139.9 million.

(6)
Long-term liabilities include the long-term portion of deferred revenue as follows (in thousands):

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
Deferred revenue $152,771 $166,136 $134,383 $111,251 $56,339

36

Edgar Filing: Akebia Therapeutics, Inc. - Form SC 13D

21



Table of Contents

 ITEM 7.    MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) is intended to facilitate an understanding of our business and results of operations. You
should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our consolidated financial
statements and related notes included in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The
information contained in this discussion and analysis or set forth elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including information with
respect to our plans and strategy for our business, includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act
of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Such statements are based upon current expectations
that involve risks and uncertainties. You should review the section entitled "Risk Factors" in Item 1A of Part I above for a discussion of
important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking statements
contained in the following discussion and analysis.

Executive Summary

        Theravance is a biopharmaceutical company with a pipeline of internally discovered product candidates. Theravance is focused on the
discovery, development and commercialization of small molecule medicines across a number of therapeutic areas including respiratory disease,
bacterial infections and gastrointestinal motility dysfunction. Our key programs include: telavancin for the treatment of serious Gram-positive
bacterial infections with Astellas and our Horizon program and the Bifunctional Muscarinic Antagonist-beta2 Agonist program with GSK. By
leveraging our proprietary insight of multivalency to drug discovery focused primarily on validated targets, we are pursuing a next generation
strategy designed to discover superior medicines in areas of significant unmet medical need. We commenced operations in 1997, and as of
December 31, 2008, we had an accumulated deficit of $1.0 billion.

        Our clinical programs with GSK made significant progress over the past year. The lead long-acting beta2 agonist (LABA), GW642444
('444), in our Horizon collaboration with GSK commenced a large Phase 2b study in asthma in December 2007 and in chronic obstructive
pulmonary disease (COPD) in February 2008. GSK's inhaled corticosteroid (ICS), fluticasone furoate (FF), in the Horizon collaboration
commenced three large Phase 2b studies in asthma in February 2008. In December 2008, we announced positive safety and efficacy results from
the asthma study and the COPD study with '444, and in February 2009 we announced positive safety and efficacy results from three asthma
studies with FF. These Phase 2b studies with '444 and FF enrolled a total of over 3,000 patients worldwide. Also, in July 2008, we announced
positive results from a Phase 2 study in COPD with the lead inhaled bifunctional muscarinic antagonist-beta2 agonist (MABA). The
demonstration of proof-of-concept in the MABA program triggered a $10.0 million milestone payment from GSK. After a challenging start
early in 2008, when the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) cancelled the February 2008 Anti-Infective Drugs Advisory Committee
(AIDAC) meeting, we ultimately made progress with telavancin, our investigational, bactericidal, once-daily injectable antibiotic for the
treatment of Gram-positive infections such as methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA). In March 2008 the FDA accepted for review
our complete response to the October 2007 New Drug Application (NDA) approvable letter for telavancin for the treatment of complicated skin
and skin structure infections (cSSSIs). At the rescheduled AIDAC meeting, which occurred in November 2008, the panel voted 21 to 5 that the
data presented demonstrated the safety and effectiveness of telavancin for the treatment of cSSSIs caused by Gram-positive bacteria. In late
February 2009, we announced that we had received a complete response letter from the FDA requiring a risk evaluation and mitigation strategy
(REMS), data on patients with certain renal risk factors from the cSSSI and hospital-acquired pneumonia studies, revisions to the draft label, and
a safety update. In late January 2009, we submitted to the FDA
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a NDA for telavancin for the treatment of hospital-acquired pneumonia (HAP). If the NDA is accepted for filing by the FDA, it will trigger a
$10.0 million milestone payment from our partner Astellas.

        In January 2008 we raised proceeds of $166.7 million, net of issuance costs, in an underwritten public offering of $172.5 million aggregate
principal amount of unsecured 3% convertible subordinated notes. After completion of our Phase 3 development activities with telavancin and to
reduce our overall cash burn rate, in April 2008 we commenced a restructuring of our workforce, reducing approximately 40% of our positions.
We expect to incur substantial losses for at least the next several years as we continue to invest in research and development.

        Our net loss for the year ended December 31, 2008 was $93.6 million compared to $160.0 million in 2007, a decrease of $66.4 million.
This decrease was primarily due to lower research and development costs. Research and development expenses for the year ended December 31,
2008 decreased to $82.0 million compared to $155.3 million in 2007. This decrease was primarily driven by lower external clinical study costs
as well as lower employee related costs due to the reduction in force initiated in April 2008. Cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments
totaled $200.6 million at December 31, 2008, a decrease of $18.2 million during the fourth quarter 2008 and an increase of $73.8 million since
December 31, 2007.

Critical Accounting Policies

        This discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our consolidated financial statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The preparation of these financial statements requires us
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of the financial statements as well as the reported revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. We periodically evaluate our
material estimates and judgments based on the terms of underlying agreements, the expected course of development, historical experience and
other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions
or conditions.

        While our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements contained in Item 8,
"Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we believe that the following accounting policies relating
to revenue recognition, preclinical study and clinical study expenses, share-based payment charges, bonus accruals, the capitalization of
inventory cost and restructuring charges require us to make significant estimates, assumptions and judgments.

Revenue Recognition

        In connection with our agreements with GSK and Astellas, we recognize revenue from non-refundable, upfront fees and development
milestone payments ratably over the term of our performance under the agreements. These advance payments are recorded as deferred revenue
pending recognition and are classified as a short- or long-term liability on the balance sheet. When the period of deferral cannot be specifically
identified from the agreement, management estimates the period based upon provisions contained within the agreement and other relevant facts.
We periodically review the estimated performance period, which could impact the deferral period and, therefore, the timing and the amount of
revenue recognized. Significant milestones in the development process typically include initiation or completion of various phases of clinical
studies and approvals by regulatory agencies. We have made various changes to our performance periods under our agreements based upon
updated product development timelines. During 2008, we revised the performance periods related to our agreement with Astellas based on the
progress of regulatory review of the telavancin NDA. We do
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not expect that these revisions will have a material impact on the timing of revenue recognized under this agreement in future years. It is
possible that future adjustments will be made if actual conditions differ from our current plan and development assumptions.

        We have been reimbursed by GSK and Astellas for certain external development costs under their respective collaboration agreements.
Such reimbursements have been reflected as a reduction of research and development expense and not as revenue.

Preclinical Study and Clinical Study Expenses

        A substantial portion of our preclinical studies and all of our clinical studies have been performed by third-party contract research
organizations (CROs). Some CROs bill monthly for services performed, while others bill based upon milestones achieved. We review the
activities performed under the significant contracts each quarter. For preclinical studies, the significant factors used in estimating accruals
include the percentage of work completed to date and contract milestones achieved. For clinical study expenses, the significant factors used in
estimating accruals include the number of patients enrolled and percentage of work completed to date. Vendor confirmations are obtained for
contracts with longer duration when necessary to validate our estimate of expenses. Our estimates are highly dependent upon the timeliness and
accuracy of the data provided by our CROs regarding the status of each program and total program spending and adjustments are made when
deemed necessary. To date, we have not recorded any material adjustments as a result of changes to our estimates.

Fair Value of Share-based Payment Awards

        We use the fair value method of accounting for share-based compensation arrangements in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123(R), "Share-based Payment" (SFAS 123(R)). We adopted SFAS 123(R) on January 1, 2006 using the modified
prospective method of transition. Under this method, compensation expense is recognized beginning with the effective date of adoption of
SFAS 123(R) for all share-based payments (i) granted after the effective date of adoption and (ii) granted prior to the effective date of adoption
and that remained unvested on the date of adoption. Share-based compensation arrangements covered by SFAS 123(R) currently include stock
options granted, restricted shares issued, restricted stock unit awards (RSUs) granted and performance-contingent RSUs granted under the 2004
Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, and the 2008 New Employee Equity Incentive Plan and purchases of common stock by our employees at a
discount to the market price during offering periods under our Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP). The estimated fair value of stock options,
restricted shares and RSUs under SFAS 123(R) is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting term of the grant and the fair value of
performance-contingent RSUs is expensed during the term of the award when we determine that it is probable that certain performance
conditions will be met. Compensation expense for purchases under the ESPP is recognized based on the estimated fair value of the common
stock during each offering period and the percentage of the purchase discount.

        In conjunction with the adoption of SFAS 123(R), we changed our method of expensing the value of stock-based compensation from the
accelerated method to the straight-line single-option method. Compensation expense for all share-based payment awards granted prior to
January 1, 2006 will continue to be recognized using the accelerated expense attribution method over the vesting period while the compensation
expense for all share-based payment awards granted on or subsequent to January 1, 2006 is recognized using the straight-line single-option
method. Stock-based compensation expense for stock options and RSUs has been reduced for estimated forfeitures so that compensation
expense is based on options and RSUs ultimately expected to vest. SFAS 123(R) requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and
revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. Our estimated annual forfeiture rates for stock
options and RSUs are 4.0% and 3.0%, respectively, based on our historical forfeiture experience.
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Bonus Accruals

        We have short- and long-term bonus programs for eligible employees. Bonuses are determined based on various criteria, including the
achievement of corporate, departmental and individual goals. Bonus accruals are estimated based on various factors, including target bonus
percentages per level of employee and probability of achieving the goals upon which bonuses are based. Management periodically reviews the
progress made towards the goals under the bonus programs. As bonus accruals are dependent upon management's judgments of the likelihood of
achieving the various goals, it is possible for bonus expense to vary significantly in future periods if changes occur in those management
estimates.

Inventory

        Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or market and is included with prepaid and other current assets. Inventory at December 31, 2008
consists of $5.6 million of commercial launch supplies of our product candidate telavancin which is currently under regulatory review. Under
our 2005 License, Development and Commercialization Agreement with Astellas, we are responsible to deliver to Astellas approximately six
months of first commercial sale stock (as defined) in preparation for the regulatory approval and commercialization of telavancin.

        Our inventory has limited shelf life that will be determined by the FDA after review of our manufacturing data. If the regulatory approval of
telavancin is substantially further delayed or denied by the FDA, if the FDA determines that our data is insufficient to support extended shelf
life, or if information becomes available that suggests that our telavancin inventory will not be realizable, we may be required to expense a
portion or all of the capitalized inventory costs.

Collaboration Arrangements

2005 License, Development and Commercialization Agreement with Astellas

        In November 2005, we entered into a collaboration arrangement with Astellas for the development and commercialization of telavancin. In
July 2006, Japan was added to our telavancin collaboration, thereby giving Astellas worldwide rights to this potential medicine. Through
December 31, 2008, we have received $159.0 million in upfront, milestone and other fees from Astellas and we are eligible to receive up to an
additional $60.0 million in remaining milestone payments related to regulatory filings and approvals in various regions of the world, primarily in
the U.S. We recorded the payments as deferred revenue to be amortized ratably over our estimated period of performance (development and
commercialization period). We recognized $10.8 million, $10.3 million and $6.5 million in revenue under this agreement in 2008, 2007 and
2006, respectively. Additionally, certain costs related to telavancin development expenses are reimbursable by Astellas and are recorded as an
offset to research and development expense. The receivable from Astellas for reimbursable costs at December 31, 2008 and 2007 were
immaterial.

        If telavancin is commercialized, we will be entitled to receive royalties on global sales of telavancin by Astellas that, on a percentage basis,
range from the high teens to the upper twenties depending on sales volume. Under this arrangement, we will be responsible for substantially all
costs to develop and obtain U.S. regulatory approval for telavancin for cSSSI and HAP, and Astellas will be responsible for substantially all
other costs associated with commercialization and further development of telavancin.

Horizon Program with GSK

        In November 2002, we entered into our Horizon collaboration with GSK to develop and commercialize a LABA product candidate for the
treatment of asthma and COPD. This product candidate is intended to be administered via inhalation once daily both as a single agent new
medicine
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for COPD and as part of a new combination medicine with an ICS for asthma and in combination with an ICS and/or a long-acting muscarinic
antagonist (LAMA) for COPD. Each company contributed four LABA product candidates to the collaboration. In December 2008, we
announced positive safety and efficacy results from the asthma study and the COPD study with '444, and in February 2009 we announced
positive safety and efficacy results from three asthma studies with GSK's ICS, fluticasone furoate. In connection with the Horizon program, in
2002 we received from GSK an upfront payment of $10.0 million and sold to an affiliate of GSK shares of our Series E Preferred Stock for an
aggregate purchase price of $40.0 million. In addition, we were eligible to receive up to $495.0 million in development, approval, launch, and
sales milestones and royalties on the sales of any product resulting from this program. Through December 31, 2008, we have received a total of
$60.0 million in upfront and development milestone payments. GSK has determined to focus the collaboration's resources on the development of
the lead LABA, GW642444, a GSK-discovered compound, together with GSK's ICS. Accordingly, we do not expect to receive any further
milestone payments from the Horizon program. In the event that a LABA product candidate discovered by GSK is successfully developed and
commercialized, we will be obligated to make milestone payments to GSK which could total as much as $220.0 million if both a single agent
and a combination product were launched in multiple regions of the world. Based on available information, we do not estimate that a significant
portion of these potential milestone payments to GSK are likely to be made in the next three years. In addition, we are entitled to receive the
same royalties on sales of medicines from the Horizon program, regardless of whether the product candidate originated with Theravance or with
GSK. The royalty structure is downward-tiering and would result in an average percentage royalty rate in the low- to mid-teens at annual net
sales of up to approximately $4.0 billion and the average royalty rate would decline to single digits at annual net sales of more than $6.0 billion.
Sales of single agent LABA medicines and combination medicines would be combined for the purposes of this royalty calculation. For other
products combined with a LABA from the Horizon collaboration, such as a combination LABA/LAMA medicine, which are launched after a
LABA/ICS combination medicine, royalties are upward tiering and range from the mid-single digits to 10%. However, if GSK is not selling a
LABA/ICS combination product at the time that the first other LABA combination is launched, then the royalties described above for the
LABA/ICS combination medicine are applicable.

        We recorded the initial cash payment and subsequent milestone payments as deferred revenue to be amortized ratably over our estimated
period of performance (the product development period). Collaboration revenue from GSK was $6.8 million, $6.8 million and $7.8 million in
2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Additionally, certain costs related to the collaboration are reimbursable by GSK and are recorded as an offset
to research and development expense. The receivable from GSK for reimbursable costs at December 31, 2008 and 2007 were immaterial.

2004 Strategic Alliance with GSK

        In March 2004, we entered into our strategic alliance with GSK. Under this alliance, GSK received an option to license exclusive
development and commercialization rights to product candidates from all of our full drug discovery programs initiated prior to September 1,
2007, on pre-determined terms and on an exclusive, worldwide basis. Pursuant to the terms of the strategic alliance agreement, we initiated three
new full discovery programs between May 2004 and August 2007. These three programs are (i) our peripheral Opioid-Induced Bowel
Dysfunction (PUMA) program, (ii) our AT1 Receptor�Neprilysin Inhibitor (ARNI) program for cardiovascular disease and (iii) our MonoAmine
Reuptake Inhibitor (MARIN) program for chronic pain. GSK has the right to license product candidates from these three programs, and must
exercise this right no later than sixty days subsequent to the "proof-of-concept" stage (generally defined as the successful completion of a
Phase 2a clinical study showing efficacy and tolerability if the biological target for the drug has been clinically validated by an existing
medicine, and successful completion of a Phase 2b clinical study showing efficacy and tolerability if the biological target for the drug has not
been clinically validated by an existing
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medicine). Under the terms of the strategic alliance, GSK has only one opportunity to license each of our programs. Upon its decision to license
a program, GSK is responsible for funding all future development, manufacturing and commercialization activities for product candidates in that
program. In addition, GSK is obligated to use diligent efforts to develop and commercialize product candidates from any program that it
licenses. Consistent with our strategy, we are obligated at our sole cost to discover two structurally different product candidates for any
programs that are licensed by GSK under the alliance. If these programs are successfully advanced through development by GSK, we are
entitled to receive clinical, regulatory and commercial milestone payments and royalties on any sales of medicines developed from these
programs. For product candidates licensed to date under this agreement, the royalty structure for a product containing one of our compounds as a
single active ingredient would result in an average percentage royalty rate in the low double digits. If a product is successfully commercialized,
in addition to any royalty revenue that we receive, the total upfront and milestone payments that we could receive in any given program that
GSK licenses range from $130.0 million to $162.0 million for programs with single-agent medicines and up to $252.0 million for programs with
both a single-agent and a combination medicine. If GSK chooses not to license a program, we retain all rights to the program and may continue
the program alone or with a third party. To date, GSK has licensed our two COPD programs: long-acting muscarinic antagonist (LAMA) and
muscarinic antagonist-beta2 agonist (MABA). We received $5.0 million payments from GSK in connection with its license of each of our
LAMA and MABA programs in August 2004 and March 2005, respectively. GSK has chosen not to license our bacterial infections program, our
anesthesia program and our Gastrointestinal Motility Dysfunction program. There can be no assurance that GSK will license any other programs
under the terms of the alliance agreement or at all, which could have an adverse effect on our business and financial condition.

        In connection with the strategic alliance with GSK, we received from GSK an upfront payment of $20.0 million. The upfront payment is
being amortized over the initial performance period during which GSK may exercise its right to license certain of our programs under the
agreement, which we currently estimate to be through September 2011. In connection with the strategic alliance, we recognized $2.7 million in
revenue for each of the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006. In addition, in May 2004, GSK purchased through an affiliate
6,387,096 shares of our Class A common stock for an aggregate purchase price of $108.9 million.

        Through December 31, 2008, we have received $46.0 million in upfront and milestone payments from GSK relating to the strategic alliance
agreement. In addition, pursuant to a partial exercise of its rights under the governance agreement, upon the closing of our initial public offering
on October 8, 2004, GSK purchased through an affiliate an additional 433,757 shares of Class A common stock for $6.9 million.

        In August 2004, GSK exercised its right to license our LAMA program pursuant to the terms of the strategic alliance. We received a
$5.0 million payment from GSK in connection with its licensing of our LAMA program. Through December 31, 2008, we received a milestone
payment from GSK of $3.0 million related to clinical progress of our candidate. These payments are being amortized ratably over the estimated
period of performance (the product development period). We recognized $0.8 million, $0.8 million and $1.0 million in revenue related to the
LAMA program in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Additionally, certain costs related to the collaboration are reimbursable by GSK and are
recorded as an offset to research and development expense. The receivable from GSK for reimbursable costs at December 31, 2008 and 2007
were immaterial. We are preparing an agreement with GSK pursuant to which the LAMA program will be returned to us because the current
formulation of the lead product candidate is incompatible with GSK's proprietary inhaler device. As a result, we expect to recognize the
remaining $4.2 million of LAMA deferred revenue in the first half of 2009.
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        In March 2005, GSK exercised its right to license our MABA program pursuant to the terms of the strategic alliance. We received a
$5.0 million payment from GSK in connection with the license of our MABA program. Through December 31, 2008, we received milestone
payments from GSK of $13.0 million related to clinical progress of our candidate. These payments are being amortized ratably over the
estimated period of performance (the product development period). We recognized $2.0 million, $1.0 million and $0.9 million in revenue related
to the MABA program in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Additionally, certain costs related to the collaboration are reimbursable by GSK
and are recorded as an offset to research and development expense. The receivable from GSK for reimbursable costs at December 31, 2008 and
2007 were immaterial.

Results of Operations

Revenue

Year Ended
December 31,

Change
2008/2007

Change
2007/2006

(in millions, except percentages) 2008 2007 2006 $ % $ %
Revenue $23.1 $22.0 $19.6 $1.1 5% $2.4 12%

        We recognize revenue from the amortization of upfront and milestone payments from GSK related to our Horizon collaboration and
strategic alliance agreements and from Astellas related to our telavancin collaboration. The table below reflects the upfront and milestone
payments received from GSK under the Horizon program and strategic alliance agreements and from Astellas under the telavancin collaboration
through December 31, 2008 (in millions).

Agreements/Programs

Signed
Agreement/Licensed

Program

Upfront,
Milestone

and
Other

Payments
GSK Collaborations
Horizon program 2002 $ 60.0
Strategic Alliance agreement execution 2004 20.0
Strategic Alliance�LAMA license 2004 8.0
Strategic Alliance�MABA license 2005 18.0

Astellas License agreement 2005 159.0

Total $ 265.0

        Upfront fees and milestone payments received have been deferred and are being amortized ratably into revenue over the applicable
estimated performance period with end dates ranging between 2011 and 2021. Revenue in 2009 is expected to be comprised of the ongoing
amortization of deferred revenue that relates to the $265.0 million of upfront and milestone payments received through December 31, 2008,
under our agreements with GSK and Astellas, and to any additional upfront or milestone payments earned under current or new agreements with
GSK, Astellas or other partners. We periodically review the estimated performance periods of our contracts and as such, during 2008, we revised
the performance periods related to our agreement with Astellas based on the progress of regulatory review of the telavancin NDA. We do not
expect that this revision of the estimated performance periods will have a material impact on future revenue recognized under this agreement.
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Research & Development

        Research and development expenses, as compared to the prior years, were as follows:

Year Ended
December 31,

Change
2008/2007

Change
2007/2006

(in millions, except percentages) 2008 2007 2006 $ % $ %
External research and development $30.9 $ 68.3 $ 94.0 $(37.4) (55)% $(25.7) (27)%
Employee-related 17.9 49.4 37.5 (31.5) (64)% 11.9 32%
Stock-based compensation 10.3 13.1 12.6 (2.8) (21)% 0.5 4%
Facilities, depreciation and other allocated 22.9 24.5 22.5 (1.6) (7)% 2.0 9%

Total research and development expenses $82.0 $155.3 $166.6 $(73.3) (47)% $(11.3) (7)%

        Research and development expenses decreased in 2008 compared to 2007 primarily due to decreases in external costs and lower employee
related expenses.

        External research and development costs decreased in 2008 compared to 2007 primarily due to the completion, during 2007, of our Phase 2
clinical studies for TD-5108, our lead GI Motility Dysfunction compound, and TD-1792, our investigational antibiotic and completion of our
Phase 3 HAP program for telavancin. Employee-related expenses decreased in 2008 compared to 2007 primarily due to our reduction in force
announced in April 2008, as well as the costs related to our long-term bonus program having been fully accrued in 2007. Stock-based
compensation expenses decreased in 2008 compared to 2007 primarily due to our reduction in force announced in April 2008. Stock-based
compensation expense includes expenses related to employee stock options, restricted stock unit awards (RSUs), employee stock purchase plan
issuances and the value of options and RSUs issued to non-employees for services rendered. Facilities, depreciation and other allocated expenses
decreased in 2008 compared to 2007 primarily due to lower supplies and facilities administration costs in 2008.

        Research and development expenses decreased in 2007 compared to 2006 primarily as a result of lower external research and development
expenses, partially offset by higher employee related expenses.

        External research and development costs decreased in 2007 compared to 2006 primarily as a result of our completion of patient enrollment
in our Phase 3 cSSSI studies for telavancin in 2006, partially offset by increased external research and development costs associated with our
Phase 3 HAP studies for telavancin and our two Phase 2 clinical studies for TD-5108, our GI motility dysfunction compound, and TD-1792, our
investigational antibiotic, in 2007. Employee-related expenses increased in 2007 compared to 2006 primarily due to higher costs related to our
long-term bonus program and increased headcount to support our clinical research programs. Facilities, depreciation and other allocated
expenses increased in 2007 compared to 2006 primarily due to higher supplies and material costs used to support our clinical programs, as well
as higher facilities-related expenses.

        During 2007, we granted performance-contingent RSUs to certain research and development employees, the vesting of which is tied to the
successful achievement of certain corporate operating milestones during 2009, as well as a requirement for continued employment through
certain dates in late 2009 and early 2010. The expense associated with these performance-contingent RSUs would be recognized in increments if
the achievement of the performance conditions becomes probable. The maximum potential research and development expense associated with
the performance-contingent RSUs, if all of the applicable performance milestones are successfully achieved on time, was approximately
$14.5 million as of December 31, 2008. No requisite performance conditions were probable as of December 31, 2008; as a result, no
compensation expense related to performance-contingent RSUs has been recognized to date.

        Research and development expenses for 2009 are expected to be driven largely by employee related expenses, costs associated with our
ongoing efforts to receive FDA approval for the telavancin
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cSSSI and HAP NDAs, continued development efforts in our PUMA and GI Motility programs, as well as costs associated with new drug
discovery programs.

        Under our agreement with Astellas, we are responsible for completion of the telavancin Phase 3 programs, publication of the results of
these studies and preparation and submission of an NDA to the FDA for the cSSSI and HAP indications. We are also responsible for the
manufacture of approximately six months of first commercial sale stock for launch of telavancin in the United States. The telavancin cSSSI
NDA remains under regulatory review and we submitted our telavancin NDA for HAP in late January 2009. We are reliant on the efforts of third
parties, including contract research organizations, consultants and contract manufacturing organizations for the completion of these obligations.
While we cannot predict the time frame in which all of these responsibilities will be completed, in particular the length of time required to
complete regulatory review of both the cSSSI and the HAP NDAs and the costs associated with responding to FDA requests during its review,
we anticipate that our aggregate external costs associated with our obligations with regard to telavancin described above will be towards the
upper end of the range of $160.0 million to $170.0 million. In addition, if the regulatory approval of telavancin is substantially further delayed or
denied by the FDA, if the FDA determines that our data is insufficient to support extended shelf life, or if information becomes available that
suggests that the telavancin inventory will not be realizable, we may be required to expense a portion or all of the capitalized inventory costs
and/or have additional inventory manufactured.

        We have not provided program costs in detail because we do not track, and have not tracked, all of the individual components (specifically
the internal cost components) of our research and development expenses on a program basis. We do not have the systems and processes in place
to accurately capture these costs on a program basis.

General and administrative

        General and administrative expenses (in millions, except percentages):

Year Ended
December 31,

Change
2008/2007

Change
2007/2006

(in millions, except percentages) 2008 2007 2006 $ % $ %
General and administrative $28.9 $35.3 $32.2 $(6.4) (18)% $3.1 10%

        General and administrative expenses decreased in 2008 compared to 2007 primarily due to lower employee related expenses due to our
reduction in force announced in April 2008.

        General and administrative expenses increased in 2007 compared to 2006 primarily due to external consulting expenses related to
telavancin marketing preparations and an increase in employee-related costs.

        During 2007, we granted performance-contingent RSUs to certain general and administrative employees, the vesting of which is tied to the
successful achievement of certain corporate operating milestones during 2009, as well as a requirement for continued employment through
certain dates in late 2009 and early 2010. The expense associated with these performance-contingent RSUs would be recognized in increments if
the achievement of the performance conditions becomes probable. The maximum potential general and administrative expense associated with
the performance-contingent RSUs, if all of the applicable performance milestones are successfully achieved on time, was approximately
$16.2 million as of December 31, 2008. No requisite performance conditions were probable as of December 31, 2008; as a result, no
compensation expense related to performance-contingent RSUs has been recognized to date.

        We anticipate general and administrative expenses in 2009 to decrease relative to 2008 levels due to reduced employee costs primarily
resulting from our reduction in force announced in April 2008.
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Restructuring charges

        In response to the completion of our Phase 3 development activities with telavancin and to reduce our overall cash burn rate, in April 2008
we announced a plan to reduce our workforce by approximately 40% through layoffs from all departments throughout our organization. For the
year ended December 31, 2008, we recorded restructuring charges totaling $5.4 million. These amounts relate to severance, other termination
benefits and outplacement services and include a non-cash charge of $42,000 related to the sale of equipment.

        The following table summarizes the accrual balance and utilization by cost type for the restructuring for the year ended December 31, 2008:

(in millions)

Employee
Severance and

Benefits
Restructuring charges accrued $ 5.5
Cash payments (4.9)
Adjustments (0.1)

Balance as of December 31, 2008 $ 0.5

        The remaining accrual as of December 31, 2008 and adjustments to the accrual through December 31, 2008 are related to employee
severance and related benefits. Several of our employees impacted by the plan have future service requirements extending beyond December 31,
2008. As a result, we anticipate that approximately $0.1 million of additional severance and other termination benefits will be recognized over
their remaining service periods through the end of 2009. The execution of the plan is expected to be completed by the end of 2009 when the
remaining accrual is expected to be paid. The remaining restructuring accrual is recorded within accrued personnel-related expenses.

        In February 2009, we entered into a sublease agreement with a third party to sublease excess space in a portion of one of our South San
Francisco, CA buildings. The sublease has a 37 month term that begins March 2009. In the quarter ending March 31, 2009, we expect to record
an additional restructuring charge of $1.1 million which represents the fair value of our lease payments and expenses less sublease income
through March 2012.

Interest and other income, net

Year Ended
December 31,

Change
2008/2007

Change
2007/2006

(in millions, except percentages) 2008 2007 2006 $ % $ %
Interest and other income, net $5.2 $8.7 $13.3 $(3.5) (40)% $(4.6) 35%

        Interest and other income, net, decreased in 2008 compared to 2007 and in 2007 compared to 2006 primarily due to a trend of lower interest
income earned on our investments.

Interest expense

Year Ended
December 31,

Change
2008/2007

Change
2007/2006

(in millions, except percentages) 2008 2007 2006 $ % $ %
Interest expense $5.7 $0.1 $0.2 $5.6 5600% $(0.1) (50)%

        Interest expense increased in 2008 compared to 2007 primarily due to interest expense and amortization of debt issuance costs on our
convertible subordinated notes issued in January 2008.
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        Interest expense decreased in 2007 compared to 2006 primarily due to declining capital lease and debt balances.

Income Taxes

        At December 31, 2008, we had net operating loss carryforwards for federal income taxes of $735.2 million and federal research and
development tax credit carryforwards of $33.4 million. Our utilization of the net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards may be subject to
annual limitations due to the ownership change limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Code and similar state provisions. The annual
limitations may result in the expiration of net operating losses and credits prior to utilization. We recorded a valuation allowance to offset in full
the benefit related to our deferred tax assets because realization of these benefits is uncertain.

        We adopted FIN 48 effective January 1, 2007. The adoption of FIN 48 did not result in an adjustment to the beginning balance of our
accumulated deficit.

        Since the implementation of FIN 48, we increased our unrecognized tax benefits by $9.5 million. We had unrecognized tax benefits of
$33.2 million and $36.2 million as of January 1, 2008 and December 31, 2008, respectively. If we are eventually able to recognize these
uncertain positions, $36.2 million of the unrecognized benefit would reduce our effective tax rate.

        Utilization of net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards may be subject to a substantial annual limitation due to the ownership change
limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Code and similar state provisions. We conducted an analysis to determine whether an ownership
change had occurred since inception. The analysis indicated that two ownership changes occurred in prior years. However, notwithstanding the
applicable annual limitations, no portion of the net operating loss or credit carryforwards will expire before becoming available to reduce federal
and state income tax liabilities. Annual limitations may result in expiration of net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards before some or all
of such amounts have been utilized.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

        Since our inception, we have financed our operations primarily through private placements and public offerings of equity and debt
securities and payments received under corporate collaboration agreements. As of December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, we had
$200.6 million and $129.3 million, respectively, in cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities, in each case excluding $3.8 million in
restricted cash that was pledged as collateral for certain of our leased facilities.

        Although we expect our net cash used in operations to be lower in 2009 compared to 2008, we expect to incur substantial expenses as we
continue our discovery and development efforts, particularly to the extent we advance our product candidates into clinical studies, which are
very expensive. We believe that our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities will be sufficient to meet our anticipated operating needs
for at least the next twelve months based upon current operating plans, milestone forecasts and spending assumptions. We are likely to require
additional capital to fund operating needs thereafter. If our current operating plans, milestone forecasts or spending assumptions change, then we
may require additional funding sooner in the form of public or private equity offerings or debt financings. We cannot guarantee that future
financing will be available in amounts or on terms acceptable to us, if at all, particularly if the effects of the global financial and economic crises
continue or worsen. This could leave us without adequate financial resources to fund our operations as presently conducted.
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Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31,
Change
2008/2007

Change
2007/2006

(in millions) 2008 2007 2006 $ $
Net cash used in operating activities $ (99.9) $(104.4) $(104.8) $ 4.5 $ 0.4
Net cash provided (used in) investing activities $ (67.4) $ 110.6 $ (18.6) $ (178.0) $ 129.2
Net cash provided by financing activities $173.1 $ 7.8 $ 146.0 $ 165.3 $ (138.2)

        Net cash used in operating activities decreased in 2008 compared to 2007 primarily due to our lower net loss for 2008, partially offset by
lower milestone payments received from our collaboration partners in 2008 and higher uses of cash for other operating assets and liabilities
during 2008. Net cash used in operating activities was at a similar level in 2007 compared to 2006.

        Net investing activities used cash in 2008 and provided cash in 2007. The use of cash in 2008 was primarily due to higher purchases of
marketable securities as a result of investing the proceeds of our January 2008 convertible subordinated notes offering. Net investing activities
provided cash in 2007 and used cash in 2006. The provision of cash in 2007 was primarily due higher proceeds from sales of marketable
securities in 2007 versus the use of cash in 2006 due to higher purchases of marketable securities as a result of investing the proceeds of our
February 2006 common stock offering.

        Net cash provided by financing activities increased in 2008 compared to 2007 primarily due to net proceeds of $166.7 million received
from our January 2008 convertible subordinated notes offering. Net cash provided by financing activities decreased in 2007 compared to 2006
primarily due to net proceeds of approximately $139.8 million received from our February 2006 common stock offering.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

        Our major outstanding contractual obligations relate to our convertible subordinated notes, a note payable, operating leases and outstanding
purchase commitments primarily for services under contract research, development and clinical supply agreements. These contractual
obligations as of December 31, 2008, are as follows:

(in millions)

Less
than
1 year

1-3
years

4-5
years

After
5 years Total

Convertible subordinated notes $ 5.2 $10.4 $10.4 $180.3 $206.3
Note payable 0.2 0.3 � � 0.5
Operating leases 6.3 13.0 1.7 � 21.0
Purchase obligations 2.2 0.7 � � 2.9

Total $ 13.9 $24.4 $12.1 $180.3 $230.7

        The current annual rental expense under our combined operating leases for our Company's headquarters is approximately $6.9 million,
subject to annual increases. As security for our performance under the operating leases, we have issued letters of credit totaling $3.8 million,
collateralized by an equal amount of restricted cash.

        Pursuant to our Horizon collaboration with GSK, in the event that a LABA product candidate discovered by GSK is successfully developed
and commercialized, we will be obligated to make milestone payments to GSK which could total as much as $220.0 million if both a single
agent and a combination product were launched in multiple regions of the world. The current lead LABA candidate, GW642444, is a
GSK-discovered compound. Based on available information, we do not estimate that any significant portion of these potential milestone
payments to GSK is likely to be made in the next three years.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

        In June 2007, the EITF ratified a consensus on EITF Issue No. 07-3 (EITF 07-3), "Accounting for Non-Refundable Advance Payments for
Goods or Services to Be Used in Future Research and Development Activities", which concluded that non-refundable advance payments for
goods or services for use in research and development activities should be deferred and capitalized. EITF 07-3 was effective for us beginning in
the first quarter of fiscal year 2008. The adoption of EITF 07-3 had no material impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash
flows.

        In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, "Fair Value Measurements" (SFAS 157). SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a
framework for measuring fair value in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and expands disclosures about fair value
measurements. SFAS 157 is effective for us beginning in the first quarter of fiscal year 2008. In February 2008, the FASB issued Statement of
Financial Position No. 157-2, which delays the effective date of SFAS 157 for non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities and is effective
for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008. The adoption of SFAS 157 for financial assets and liabilities had no material impact on our
financial position, results of operations and cash flows. We have determined that the adoption of SFAS 157 for non-financial assets and
non-financial liabilities will have no material impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

        In November 2007, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) ratified a consensus on EITF Issue No. 07-1 (EITF 07-1), "Accounting for
Collaborative Arrangements", which requires participants in a collaboration to make separate disclosures regarding the nature and purpose of an
arrangement, their rights and obligations under the arrangement, the accounting policy for the arrangement and the income statement
classification and amounts arising from the arrangement between participants for each period an income statement is presented. EITF 07-1 is
effective for us beginning in the first quarter of fiscal year 2009. We have determined that the adoption of EITF 07-1 will have no material
impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

        In June 2008, the EITF ratified a consensus on EITF Issue No. 07-5 (EITF 07-5), "Determining Whether an Instrument (or Embedded
Feature) is Indexed to an Entity's Own Stock". The objective of EITF 07-5 is to provide guidance for determining whether an equity-linked
financial instrument is indexed to an entity's own stock. EITF 07-5 will be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. We
have determined that the adoption of EITF 07-5 will have no material impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

 ITEM 7A.    QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

        We are exposed to market risk, including changes to interest rates which are confined to our cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and
marketable securities. We have invested primarily in money market funds, federal agency notes, corporate debt securities and U.S. treasury
notes. To reduce the volatility relating to these exposures, we have put investment and risk management policies and procedures in place. The
securities in our investment portfolio are not leveraged, are classified as available-for-sale and, due to their very short-term nature, are subject to
minimal interest rate risk. We currently do not engage in hedging activities. Because of the short-term maturities of our investments, we do not
believe that an increase in market rates would have any significant negative impact on the realized value of our investment portfolio. Our
outstanding note payable has a fixed interest rate and therefore, we have no exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

        Most of our transactions are conducted in U.S. dollars, although we do conduct some preclinical and manufacture some active
pharmaceutical ingredients with vendors located outside the United States. Some of these expenses are paid in U.S. dollars, and some are paid in
the local foreign currency. If the exchange rate undergoes a change of 10%, we do not believe that it would have a material impact on our results
of operations or cash flows.
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THERAVANCE, INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except per share data)

December 31,

2008 2007
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 92,280 $ 86,433
Marketable securities 108,325 40,383
Receivable from related party 287 316
Notes receivable 266 223
Prepaid and other current assets 8,803 6,732

Total current assets 209,961 134,087
Marketable securities � 2,456
Restricted cash 3,810 3,810
Property and equipment, net 16,206 20,091
Notes receivable 1,185 1,539
Other long-term assets 4,994 �

Total assets $ 236,156 $ 161,983

Liabilities and stockholders' (net capital deficiency)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 3,277 $ 6,957
Accrued personnel-related expenses 8,932 11,841
Accrued clinical and development expenses 3,434 11,318
Other accrued liabilities 4,407 2,797
Current portion of note payable 117 101
Current portion of deferred revenue 23,788 22,519

Total current liabilities 43,955 55,533

Convertible subordinated notes 172,500 �
Deferred rent 1,560 2,003
Note payable 319 435
Deferred revenue 152,771 166,136
Other long-term liabilities � 4,140
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 3, 9 and 10)
Stockholders' (net capital deficiency):
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 230 shares authorized, no shares issued
and outstanding � �
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 200,000 shares authorized, issuable in
series; 52,576 and 51,684 shares issued and outstanding at December 31,
2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively 525 516
Class A Common Stock, $0.01 par value, 30,000 shares authorized,
9,402 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2008 and December 31,
2007 94 94
Additional paid-in capital 895,383 870,878
Accumulated other comprehensive income 501 57
Accumulated deficit (1,031,452) (937,809)
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Total stockholders' (net capital deficiency) (134,949) (66,264)

Total liabilities and stockholders' (net capital deficiency) $ 236,156 $ 161,983

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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THERAVANCE, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006
Revenue (includes amounts from GSK, a related party, of
$12,303, $11,297 and $12,565 in 2008, 2007 and 2006,
respectively) $ 23,096 $ 22,002 $ 19,587
Operating expenses:
Research and development 82,020 155,254 166,564
General and administrative 28,861 35,313 32,193
Restructuring charges 5,419 � �

Total operating expenses 116,300 190,567 198,757

Loss from operations (93,204) (168,565) (179,170)

Interest and other income, net 5,242 8,661 13,319
Interest expense (5,681) (93) (193)

Net loss $ (93,643) $ (159,997) $ (166,044)

Basic and diluted net loss per common share $ (1.53) $ (2.64) $ (2.81)

Shares used in computing net loss per common share 61,390 60,498 59,013
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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THERAVANCE, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity (net capital deficiency)

(in thousands)

Common Stock
Class A

Common Stock
Notes

Receivable
from

Stockholders

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Total
Stockholders'
Equity (Net
Capital

Deficiency)

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Deferred
Stock-Based
Compensation

Accumulated
DeficitShares Amount Shares Amount

Balance at December 31,
2005 44,475 $ 444 9,402 $ 94 $ 676,299 $ (17) $ (4,965) $ (503) $ (611,768) $ 59,584

Common stock issuances
from employee stock
option and purchase
plans, net of repurchases
and early exercised stock
vested 1,071 11 � � 7,522 � � � � 7,533
Issuance of common
stock for cash in
secondary stock offering,
net of expenses of $100 5,200 52 � � 139,811 � � � � 139,863
FAS 123(R) employee
stock-based compensation � � � � 19,433 � � � � 19,433
Forgiveness and
repayments of notes
receivable � � � � � 14 � � � 14
Stock-based
compensation related to
grants of stock options to
nonemployees � � � � 2,104 � � � � 2,104
Amortization of deferred
stock-based compensation � � � � 294 � � � � 294
Reversal of deferred
stock-based compensation � � � � (4,965) � 4,965 � � �
Comprehensive loss:
Net loss � � � � � � � � (166,044) (166,044)
Net unrealized gain on
marketable securities � � � � � � � 529 � 529

Total comprehensive loss (165,515)

Balance at December 31,
2006 50,746 507 9,402 94 840,498 (3) � 26 (777,812) 63,310

Common stock issuances
from employee stock
option and purchase
plans, net of repurchases,
restricted stock awards
and early exercised stock
vested 938 9 � � 7,924 � � � � 7,933
FAS 123(R) employee
stock-based compensation � � � � 22,494 � � � � 22,494
Forgiveness and
repayments of notes
receivable � � � � (38) 3 � � � (35)
Comprehensive loss:
Net loss � � � � � � � � (159,997) (159,997)

� � � � � � � 31 � 31
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Net unrealized gain on
marketable securities

Total comprehensive loss (159,966)

Balance at December 31,
2007 51,684 516 9,402 94 870,878 � � 57 (937,809) (66,264)

Common stock issuances
from employee stock
option and purchase
plans, net of repurchases,
restricted stock awards
and early exercised stock
vested 892 9 � � 6,485 � � � � 6,494
FAS 123(R) employee
stock-based compensation � � � � 18,019 � � � � 18,019
Forgiveness and
repayments of notes
receivable � � � � 1 � � � � 1
Comprehensive loss:
Net loss � � � � � � � � (93,643) (93,643)
Net unrealized gain on
marketable securities � � � � � � � 444 � 444

Total comprehensive loss (93,199)

Balance at December 31,
2008 52,576 $ 525 9,402 $ 94 $ 895,383 $ � $ � $ 501 $ (1,031,452) $ (134,949)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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THERAVANCE, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006
Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss $ (93,643) $(159,997) $(166,044)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortization 6,962 4,058 4,198
Stock-based compensation 18,019 22,494 21,831
Other-than-temporary impairment loss on marketable
securities 20 1,140 �
Loss on sale of equipment 42 � �
Forgiveness of notes receivable 15 3 53
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Receivables, prepaid and other assets (3,523) (787) 721
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (8,217) (11,383) 7,203
Accrued personnel-related expenses (2,908) 3,525 2,275
Deferred rent (443) (295) (240)
Deferred revenue (12,096) 34,999 25,411
Other liabilities (4,139) 1,871 (199)

Net cash used in operating activities (99,911) (104,372) (104,791)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment (1,031) (9,818) (5,708)
Purchases of marketable securities (371,625) (93,329) (190,974)
Maturities of marketable securities 286,177 121,804 124,715
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities 18,729 90,760 53,828
Proceeds from sale of equipment 103 � �
Restricted cash and cash equivalents � 50 �
Additions to notes receivable (100) (250) (850)
Decrease in notes receivable 381 1,375 407

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (67,366) 110,592 (18,582)

Cash flows from financing activities
Payments on notes payable and capital leases (101) (88) (1,250)
Net proceeds from issuances of common stock 6,493 7,913 147,224
Net proceeds from issuance of convertible subordinated notes 166,732 � �

Net cash provided by financing activities 173,124 7,825 145,974

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 5,847 14,045 22,601
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 86,433 72,388 49,787

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 92,280 $ 86,433 $ 72,388

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information
Cash paid for interest $ 2,535 $ 86 $ 193
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THERAVANCE, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Operations and Principles of Consolidation

        Theravance, Inc. (the Company or Theravance) is a biopharmaceutical company with a pipeline of internally discovered product candidates.
Theravance is focused on the discovery, development and commercialization of small molecule medicines across a number of therapeutic areas
including respiratory disease, bacterial infections and gastrointestinal motility dysfunction. The Company's key programs include: telavancin for
the treatment of serious Gram-positive bacterial infections with Astellas Pharma Inc. (Astellas) and the Company's Horizon program and the
Bifunctional Muscarinic Antagonist-beta2 Agonist (MABA) program with GlaxoSmithKline plc (GSK). By leveraging the Company's
proprietary insight of multivalency to drug discovery focused primarily on validated targets, Theravance is pursuing a next generation strategy
designed to discover superior medicines in areas of significant unmet medical need. None of the Company's product candidates have been
approved by regulatory agencies and the Company has not received any product revenue to date. The consolidated financial statements include
the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation.

Use of Management's Estimates

        The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and
accompanying notes. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

        The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with a maturity of three months or less on the date of purchase to be cash
equivalents. Cash equivalents are carried at cost, which approximates fair value.

        Under certain lease agreements and letters of credit, the Company has used cash and cash equivalents as collateral. There was $3.8 million
of restricted cash related to such agreements at December 31, 2008 and 2007.

Marketable Securities

        The Company classifies its marketable securities as available-for-sale and has the ability and the intent of holding these securities for a
period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in market value. Available-for-sale securities are carried at estimated fair value,
with the unrealized gains and losses reported in stockholders' equity (net capital deficiency) and included in accumulated other comprehensive
income. The cost of securities in this category is adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts from the date of purchase to
maturity. Such amortization is included in interest and other income. Realized gains and losses and declines in value judged to be other than
temporary on available-for-sale securities are also included in interest and other income. The cost of securities sold is based on the
specific-identification method.
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THERAVANCE, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Other-than-Temporary Impairment Assessment

        The Company reviews its investment portfolio to identify and evaluate investments that have indications of possible impairment. Factors
considered in determining whether a loss is other-than-temporary include the length of time and extent to which fair value has been less than the
cost basis, the financial condition and near-term prospects of the investee, credit quality and the Company's ability and intent to hold the
investment for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in market value. If the Company determines that an investment
impairment is other-than-temporary, the investment is written down with a charge recorded in interest and other income, net.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

        Financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, receivables from related party, accounts payable, accrued
liabilities and convertible subordinated notes. Marketable securities are carried at fair value. Cash and cash equivalents, receivables from related
party, accounts payable and accrued liabilities are carried at cost. The Company believes cost approximates fair value due to the relatively short
maturities of these instruments.

Inventory

        Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or market and is included with prepaid and other current assets. Inventory consists of $5.6 million
and $4.4 million as of December 2008 and 2007, respectively, of commercial launch supplies of the Company's product candidate telavancin
which is currently under regulatory review. Under the Company's 2005 License, Development and Commercialization Agreement with Astellas,
the Company is responsible to deliver to Astellas approximately six months of first commercial sale stock (as defined) in preparation for the
regulatory approval and commercialization of telavancin.

        If the regulatory approval of telavancin is substantially further delayed or denied by the FDA, if the FDA determines that the Company's
data is insufficient to support extended shelf life, or if information becomes available that suggests that the telavancin inventory will not be
realizable, it may be required to expense a portion or all of the capitalized inventory costs.

Revenue Recognition

        The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with the criteria outlined in Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101 (SAB 101) "Revenue
Recognition in Financial Statements", as amended by SAB 104 and Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue 00-21 "Revenue Arrangements
with Multiple Deliverables" (EITF 00-21). Under EITF 00-21, the Company has determined that the deliverables under its various collaboration
agreements do not meet the criteria required for separate accounting units for the purposes of revenue recognition.

        In connection with the Company's agreements with GSK and Astellas, the Company recognizes revenue from non-refundable, upfront fees
and development milestone payments ratably over the term of its performance under the agreements. These upfront or milestone payments
received, pending recognition as revenue, are recorded as deferred revenue and are classified as a short-term or long-term liability on the balance
sheet to be amortized over the period of deferral. Deferred revenue
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THERAVANCE, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

that is classified as short-term or long-term liabilities is amortized to revenue and is not settled with cash. When the period of deferral cannot be
specifically identified from the agreement, management estimates the period based upon the terms of the agreement and other relevant facts. The
Company periodically reviews the estimated performance periods of its contracts based on the progress of its programs. During 2008, the
Company revised the performance period related to the Company's agreement with Astellas based on the progress of regulatory review of the
telavancin NDA. The Company expects that the revision of the performance period under this agreement will not have a material impact on the
timing of revenue recognized in future years. In addition, the Company has been reimbursed by GSK and Astellas for certain external
development costs under their respective collaboration agreements. Such reimbursements have been reflected as a reduction of research and
development expense and not as revenue.

Property and Equipment

        Property, equipment and leasehold improvements are stated at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method as follows:

Leasehold improvements Shorter of remaining lease terms or
useful life

Equipment, furniture and fixtures 5-7 years
Software and computer equipment 3 years

Capitalized Software

        The Company capitalizes certain costs related to direct material and service costs for software obtained for internal use in accordance with
Statement of Position 98-1 Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use. Capitalized software costs
are depreciated over 3 years.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

        Long-lived assets include property and equipment. The carrying value of long-lived assets is reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the asset may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized when the total of estimated future
cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition are less than its carrying amount.

Concentration of Credit Risks and Other Uncertainties

        The Company invests in a variety of financial instruments and, by its policy, limits the amount of credit exposure with any one issuer,
industry or geographic area for investments other than instruments backed by the U.S. federal government.

        The Company is substantially dependent on third-party vendors and clinical research organizations for clinical studies related to its drug
discovery and development efforts, as well as suppliers for the manufacture of its active pharmaceutical ingredient (API) and drug product. The
Company may be unable to retain alternative providers on reasonable terms, if at all. If the Company loses its relationship with any one or more
of these providers, it could experience a significant delay in both
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THERAVANCE, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

identifying another comparable provider and then contracting for its services. Even if the Company locates an alternative provider, it is likely
that this provider will need additional time to respond to the Company's needs and may not provide the same type or level of service as the
original provider. For example, due to the complex nature of the Company's compounds, changing manufacturers for APIs or drug products
could involve lengthy technology transfer and validation activities for the new manufacturer. The occurrence of any of these events may delay
the development or commercialization of the Company's product candidates and have a material adverse effect on the consolidated results of
operations.

        Future financing may not be available in amounts or on terms acceptable to the Company, if at all. The Company will require significant
additional capital to fully implement its business plan.

Related Parties

        The Company's related parties are its directors, executive officers and GSK. Transactions with executive officers and directors include
notes receivable, described below. Transactions with GSK are described in Note 3.

        Robert V. Gunderson, Jr. is a director of the Company. The Company has engaged Gunderson Dettmer Stough Villeneuve Franklin &
Hachigian, LLP, of which Mr. Gunderson is a partner, as its primary legal counsel. Fees are incurred in the ordinary course of business, and
were $0.4 million, $0.6 million and $0.5 million the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Notes Receivable

        The Company has provided loans to its officers and employees primarily to assist them with the purchase of a primary residence, which
collateralizes the resulting loans. Interest receivable related to the loans was $10,000 and $26,000 at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively,
and is included in other current assets. The Company accrues interest on the loans at rates ranging up to 8%. The outstanding loans have
maturity dates ranging from March 2009 through January 2013.

Bonus Accruals

        The Company has short- and long-term bonus programs for eligible employees. Bonuses are determined based on various criteria, including
the achievement of corporate, departmental and individual goals. Bonus accruals are estimated based on various factors, including target bonus
percentages per level of employee and probability of achieving the goals upon which bonuses are based. The Company's management
periodically reviews the progress made towards the goals under the bonus programs. As bonus accruals are dependent upon management's
judgments of the likelihood of achieving the various goals, it is possible for bonus expense to vary significantly in future periods if changes
occur in those management estimates. The $3.7 million remaining to be paid under the long-term bonus program, which was fully accrued as of
December 31, 2007 is scheduled to be paid to eligible employees in December 2009. Bonus expense for the Company's short-term bonus
program was $2.9 million, $4.9 million and $5.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Deferred Rent

        Deferred rent consists of the difference between cash payments and the recognition of rent expense on a straight-line basis for the buildings
the Company occupies. Rent expense is being recognized ratably over the life of the leases. Because the Company's operating leases provide for
rent increases over the terms of the leases, average annual rent expense during the first 5.5 years of the leases exceeded the Company's actual
cash rent payments.

Research and Development Costs

        Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development costs consist of salaries and benefits, laboratory
supplies and facility costs, as well as fees paid to third parties that conduct certain research and development activities on behalf of the
Company, net of certain external development costs reimbursed by GSK and Astellas.

Preclinical Study and Clinical Study Expenses

        Most of the Company's preclinical studies and all of its clinical studies have been performed by third-party contract research organizations
(CROs). Some CROs bill monthly for services performed, while others bill based upon milestones achieved. The Company reviews the activities
performed under the significant contracts each quarter. For preclinical studies, the significant factors used in estimating accruals include the
percentage of work completed to date and contract milestones achieved. For clinical study expenses, the significant factors used in estimating
accruals include the number of patients enrolled and percentage of work completed to date. Vendor confirmations are obtained for contracts with
longer duration when necessary to validate the Company's estimate of expenses. The Company's estimates are highly dependent upon the
timeliness and accuracy of the data provided by its CROs regarding the status of each program and total program spending and adjustments are
made when deemed necessary.

Fair Value of Share-based Payment Awards

        The Company uses the fair value method of accounting for share-based compensation arrangements in accordance with Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statement No. 123(R), "Share-based Payment" (SFAS 123(R)). The Company adopted SFAS 123(R) on
January 1, 2006 using the modified prospective method of transition. Under this method, compensation expense is recognized beginning with the
effective date of adoption of SFAS 123(R) for all share-based payments (i) granted after the effective date of adoption and (ii) granted prior to
the effective date of adoption and that remained unvested on the date of adoption. Share-based compensation arrangements covered by
SFAS 123(R) currently include stock options granted, restricted shares issued, restricted stock unit awards (RSUs) granted and
performance-contingent RSUs granted under the 2004 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, and the 2008 New Employee Equity Incentive Plan
and purchases of common stock by the Company's employees at a discount to the market price during offering periods under the Company's
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP). The estimated fair value of stock options, restricted shares and RSUs is expensed on a straight-line basis
over the expected term of the grant and the fair value of performance-contingent RSUs is expensed during the term of the award when the
Company determines that it is probable that certain performance milestones will be met. Compensation expense
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

for purchases under the ESPP is recognized based on the estimated fair value of the common stock during each offering period and the
percentage of the purchase discount.

        In conjunction with the adoption of SFAS 123(R), the Company changed its method of expensing the value of stock-based compensation
from the accelerated method to the straight-line single-option method. Compensation expense for all share-based payment awards granted prior
to January 1, 2006 will continue to be recognized using the accelerated method over the vesting period while the compensation expense for all
share-based payment awards granted on or subsequent to January 1, 2006 is recognized using the straight-line single-option method. Stock-based
compensation expense for stock options and RSUs has been reduced for estimated forfeitures so that compensation expense is based on options
ultimately expected to vest. SFAS 123(R) requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods
if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. The Company's estimated annual forfeiture rates for stock options and RSUs which are based on
its historical forfeiture experience is 4.0% and 3.0%, respectively. The effect of the reduction in force announced in April 2008 was excluded
from the Company's estimated forfeiture rate as it was deemed to be a deviation from historical trends.

Segment Reporting

        SFAS No. 131, "Disclosure about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information", establishes annual and interim reporting standards
for an enterprise's operating segments and related disclosures about its products, services, geographic areas and major customers. The Company
has determined that it operates in only one segment which is the research and development of human therapeutics. Revenues are primarily
generated from the Company's collaborations with GSK and Astellas, located in the United Kingdom and Japan, respectively. All long-lived
assets are maintained in the United States.

Comprehensive Income or Loss

        Comprehensive income or loss is comprised of net loss and other comprehensive income (loss). Other comprehensive income (loss)
consists of changes in unrealized gains and losses on the Company's available-for-sale securities. Comprehensive income or loss for the years
ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 has been presented in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity (net capital
deficiency).

Income Taxes

        The Company utilizes the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities
are determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities and are measured using enacted tax rates
and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is provided when it is more likely than not
that some portion or all of a deferred tax asset will not be realized.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

        In June 2007, the EITF ratified a consensus on EITF Issue No. 07-3 (EITF 07-3), "Accounting for Non-Refundable Advance Payments for
Goods or Services to Be Used in Future Research and Development Activities", which concluded that non-refundable advance payments for
goods or services for use in research and development activities should be deferred and capitalized. The Company
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

adopted EITF 07-3 effective January 1, 2008 and has determined that the adoption had no material impact on its financial position, results of
operations and cash flows.

        In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, "Fair Value Measurements" (SFAS 157). SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a
framework for measuring fair value in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), and expands disclosures about fair
value measurements. In February 2008, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Position No. 157-2, which delays the effective date of
SFAS 157 for non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities and is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008. The
Company adopted SFAS 157 effective January 1, 2008 for financial assets and liabilities and has determined that the adoption had no material
impact on its financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

        In November 2007, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) ratified a consensus on EITF Issue No. 07-1 (EITF 07-1), "Accounting for
Collaborative Arrangements", which requires participants in a collaboration to make separate disclosures regarding the nature and purpose of an
arrangement, their rights and obligations under the arrangement, the accounting policy for the arrangement and the income statement
classification and amounts arising from the arrangement between participants for each period an income statement is presented. EITF 07-1 is
effective for the Company beginning in the first quarter of fiscal year 2009. The Company has determined that the adoption of EITF 07-1 will
have no material impact on its financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

        In June 2008, the EITF ratified a consensus on EITF Issue No. 07-5 (EITF 07-5), "Determining Whether an Instrument (or Embedded
Feature) is Indexed to an Entity's Own Stock". The objective of EITF 07-5 is to provide guidance for determining whether an equity-linked
financial instrument is indexed to an entity's own stock. EITF 07-5 will be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. The
Company has determined that the adoption of EITF 07-5 will have no material impact on its financial position, results of operations and cash
flows.

2. Net Loss per Share

        Basic net loss per common share (Basic EPS) is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted-average number of common shares
outstanding, less shares subject to repurchase. Diluted net loss per common share (Diluted EPS) is computed by dividing net loss by the
weighted-average number of common shares outstanding, less shares subject to repurchase, plus dilutive potential common shares and shares
subject to repurchase. At December 31, 2008, potential common shares consist of approximately 9,953,000 shares issuable upon the exercise of
stock options, approximately 1,002,000 shares issuable under performance-contingent restricted stock unit awards and approximately 1,259,000
shares issuable under restricted stock unit awards. At December 31, 2007, potential common shares consist of approximately 11,436,000 shares
issuable upon the exercise of stock options, and approximately 2,045,000 shares issuable under performance-contingent restricted stock unit
awards. At December 31, 2006, potential common shares consist of approximately 10,389,000 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options
and 18,000 shares issuable upon the exercise of a warrant. The outstanding warrant subsequently expired on October 5, 2007 without being
exercised and as a result
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2. Net Loss per Share (Continued)

no stock was issued under the warrant. Diluted EPS is identical to Basic EPS for all periods presented since potential common shares are
excluded from the calculation, as their effect is anti-dilutive.

Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006
(In thousands, except
for per share data)

Basic and diluted:
Net loss $(93,643) $(159,997) $(166,044)

Weighted average shares of common stock outstanding 61,466 60,642 59,187
Less: weighted average shares subject to repurchase (76) (144) (174)

Weighted average shares used in computing basic and diluted
net loss per common share 61,390 60,498 59,013

Basic and diluted net loss per common share $ (1.53) $ (2.64) $ (2.81)

3. Collaboration Agreements

2005 License, Development and Commercialization Agreement with Astellas

        In November 2005, the Company entered into a collaboration arrangement with Astellas for the development and commercialization of
telavancin. In July 2006, Japan was added to the collaboration, thereby giving Astellas worldwide rights to this potential medicine. Through
December 31, 2008, the Company has received $159.0 million in upfront, milestone and other fees from Astellas and the Company is eligible to
receive up to an additional $60.0 million in remaining milestone payments related to regulatory filings and approvals in various regions of the
world, primarily in the U.S. The Company recorded the payments as deferred revenue to be amortized ratably over its estimated period of
performance (development and commercialization period). The Company recognized $10.8 million, $10.3 million and $6.5 million in revenue
under this agreement in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Additionally, certain costs related to telavancin development expenses are
reimbursable by Astellas and are recorded as an offset to research and development expense. The receivable from Astellas for reimbursable costs
at December 31, 2008 and 2007 were immaterial.

        If telavancin is commercialized, the Company will be entitled to receive royalties on global sales of telavancin by Astellas that, on a
percentage basis, range from the high teens to the upper twenties depending on sales volume. Under this arrangement, the Company will be
responsible for substantially all costs to develop and obtain U.S. regulatory approval for telavancin for cSSSI and HAP, and Astellas will be
responsible for substantially all other costs associated with commercialization and further development of telavancin.

Horizon Program with GSK

        In November 2002, the Company entered into its Horizon collaboration with GSK to develop and commercialize a long-acting beta2 agonist
(LABA) product candidate both as a single agent new medicine for the treatment of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and as part
of a new combination medicine with an inhaled corticosteroid (ICS) for the treatment of asthma and/or a long-acting muscarinic antagonist
(LAMA) for COPD.
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        In connection with the Horizon program, in 2002 the Company received from GSK an upfront payment of $10.0 million and sold to an
affiliate of GSK shares of the Company's Series E Preferred Stock for an aggregate purchase price of $40.0 million. In addition, the Company
was eligible to receive up to $495.0 million in development, approval, launch and sales milestones and royalties on the sales of any product
resulting from this program. Through December 31, 2008, the Company has received a total of $60.0 million in upfront and development
milestone payments. GSK has determined to focus the collaboration's resources on the development of the lead LABA, GW642444, a
GSK-discovered compound, together with GSK's ICS, fluticasone furoate. Accordingly, the Company does not expect to receive any further
milestone payments from the Horizon program. In the event that a LABA product candidate discovered by GSK is successfully developed and
commercialized, the Company would be obligated to make milestone payments to GSK which could total as much as $220.0 million if both a
single agent and a combination product were launched in multiple regions of the world. Based on available information, the Company does not
estimate that a significant portion of these potential milestone payments to GSK are likely to be made in the next three years. In addition, the
Company is entitled to receive the same royalties on sales of medicines from the Horizon program, regardless of whether the product candidate
originated with Theravance or with GSK. The royalty structure is downward-tiering and would result in an average percentage royalty rate in the
low- to mid-teens at annual net sales of up to approximately $4.0 billion and the average royalty rate would decline to single digits at annual net
sales of more than $6.0 billion. Sales of single agent LABA medicines and combination medicines would be combined for the purposes of this
royalty calculation. For other products combined with a LABA from the Horizon collaboration, such as a combination LABA/LAMA medicine,
which are launched after a LABA/ICS combination medicine, royalties are upward tiering and range from the mid-single digits to 10%.
However, if GSK is not selling a LABA/ICS combination product at the time that the first other LABA combination is launched, then the
royalties described above for the LABA/ICS combination medicine are applicable.

        The Company recorded the initial cash payment and subsequent milestone payments as deferred revenue to be amortized ratably over its
estimated period of performance (the product development period). Collaboration revenue from GSK was $6.8 million, $6.8 million and
$7.8 million in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Additionally, certain costs related to the collaboration are reimbursable by GSK and are
recorded as an offset to research and development expense. The receivable from GSK for reimbursable costs at December 31, 2008 and 2007
were immaterial.

2004 Strategic Alliance with GSK

        In March 2004, the Company entered into its strategic alliance with GSK. Under this alliance, GSK received an option to license exclusive
development and commercialization rights to product candidates from all of the Company's full drug discovery programs initiated prior to
September 1, 2007, on pre-determined terms and on an exclusive, worldwide basis. Under the terms of the strategic alliance, GSK has only one
opportunity to license each of the Company's programs. Upon GSK's decision to license a program, GSK is responsible for funding all future
development, manufacturing and commercialization activities for product candidates in that program. In addition, GSK is obligated to use
diligent efforts to develop and commercialize product candidates from any program that it licenses. Consistent with the Company's strategy, it is
obligated at its sole cost to discover two structurally different product candidates for any programs that are licensed by GSK under the alliance.
If these programs are successfully advanced through development by GSK, the Company is entitled to
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receive clinical, regulatory and commercial milestone payments and royalties on any sales of medicines developed from these programs. For
product candidates licensed to date under this agreement, the royalty structure for a product containing one of its compounds as a single active
ingredient would result in an average percentage royalty rate in the low double digits. If a product is successfully commercialized, in addition to
any royalty revenue that the Company receives, the total upfront and milestone payments that it could receive in any given program that GSK
licenses range from $130.0 million to $162.0 million for programs with single-agent medicines and up to $252.0 million for programs with both
a single-agent and a combination medicine. If GSK chooses not to license a program, the Company retains all rights to the program and may
continue the program alone or with a third party. To date, GSK has licensed the Company's two COPD programs: long-acting muscarinic
antagonist (LAMA) and muscarinic antagonist-beta2 agonist (MABA). The Company received $5.0 million payments from GSK in connection
with its license of each of the Company's LAMA and MABA programs in August 2004 and March 2005, respectively. The Company is
preparing an agreement with GSK pursuant to which the LAMA program will be returned to the Company because the current formulation of
the lead product candidate is incompatible with GSK's proprietary inhaler device. GSK has chosen not to license the Company's bacterial
infections program, anesthesia program or Gastrointestinal Motility Dysfunction program.

        In connection with the strategic alliance with GSK, the Company received from GSK a payment of $20.0 million. This payment is being
amortized over the initial performance period during which GSK may exercise its right to license certain of the Company's programs under the
agreement, which it currently estimates to be through September 2011. In connection with the strategic alliance, the Company recognized
$2.7 million in revenue for each of the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006. In addition, in May 2004, GSK purchased through an
affiliate 6,387,096 shares of the Company's Class A common stock for an aggregate purchase price of $108.9 million.

        Through December 31, 2008, the Company has received $46.0 million in upfront and milestone payments from GSK relating to the
strategic alliance agreement. In addition, pursuant to a partial exercise of its rights under the governance agreement, upon the closing of the
Company's initial public offering on October 8, 2004, GSK purchased through an affiliate an additional 433,757 shares of Class A common
stock for $6.9 million. GSK's ownership position of the Company's outstanding stock was approximately 15.2% as of December 31, 2008.

        In August 2004, GSK exercised its right to license the Company's LAMA program pursuant to the terms of the strategic alliance. The
Company received a $5.0 million payment from GSK in connection with its licensing of the Company's LAMA program. Through
December 31, 2008, the Company received a milestone payment from GSK of $3.0 million related to clinical progress of the Company's product
candidate. These payments are being amortized ratably over the estimated period of performance (the product development period). The
Company recognized $0.8 million, $0.8 million and $1.0 million in revenue related to the LAMA program in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
Additionally, certain costs related to the collaboration are reimbursable by GSK and are recorded as an offset to research and development
expense. The receivable from GSK for reimbursable costs at December 31, 2008 and 2007 were immaterial.
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        In March 2005, GSK exercised its right to license the Company's MABA program pursuant to the terms of the strategic alliance. The
Company received a $5.0 million payment from GSK in connection with the license of the Company's MABA program. Through December 31,
2008, the Company received milestone payments from GSK of $13.0 million related to clinical progress of its candidate. These payments are
being amortized ratably over the estimated period of performance (the product development period). The Company recognized $2.0 million,
$1.0 million and $0.9 million in revenue related to the MABA program in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Additionally, certain costs related
to the collaboration are reimbursable by GSK and are recorded as an offset to research and development expense. The receivable from GSK for
reimbursable costs at December 31, 2008 and 2007 were immaterial.

4. Marketable Securities

        The Company invests in a variety of highly liquid investment-grade securities. The following is a summary of the Company's cash, cash
equivalents, marketable securities and restricted cash at December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007:

December 31, 2008 December 31, 2007

(in thousands)
Amortized

Cost

Gross
Unrealized
Gains

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Estimated
Fair
Value

Amortized
Cost

Gross
Unrealized
Gains

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Estimated
Fair
Value

U.S. government
securities $ 39,483 $ 149 $ �$ 39,632 $ � $ � $ �$ �
U.S. government
agencies 28,785 284 � 29,069 74,161 39 � 74,200
U.S. corporate notes 19,635 55 (13) 19,677 21,489 20 (2) 21,507
U.S. commercial paper 24,916 26 � 24,942 24,836 � � 24,836
Certificates of deposit 60 � � 60 60 � � 60
Money market funds 91,035 � � 91,035 12,479 � � 12,479

Total 203,914 514 (13) 204,415 133,025 59 (2) 133,082
Less amounts classified
as cash and cash
equivalents (92,280) � � (92,280) (86,433) � � (86,433)
Less amounts classified
as restricted cash (3,810) � � (3,810) (3,810) � � (3,810)

Amounts classified as
marketable securities $107,824 $ 514 $ (13) $108,325 $ 42,782 $ 59 $ (2) $ 42,839

        The estimated fair value amounts have been determined by the Company using available market information. At December 31, 2008, 100%
of marketable securities have contractual maturities within twelve months. Average duration of marketable securities was approximately six
months at December 31, 2008.
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        The following table provides the net realized gains (losses) on marketable securities for the periods presented:

Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2008 2007 2006
Realized gains $ 28 $ 224 $298
Realized losses (20) (1,188) (14)

Net realized gains (losses) $ 8 $ (964) $284

        In the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company realized $18,000 in gains and no losses that were previously classified as unrealized
gains and losses in accumulated other comprehensive income at December 31, 2007.

        In the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company realized $67,000 in gains and $11,000 in losses that were previously classified as
unrealized gains and losses in accumulated other comprehensive income at December 31, 2006.

        The following table provides the breakdown of the marketable securities with unrealized losses at December 31, 2008:

In loss position for
less than 12 months

In loss position for
more than 12 months Total

(in thousands)
Fair
Value

Gross
Unrealized
losses

Fair
Value

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Value

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

U.S. corporate notes $ 4,999 $ (13) $ � $ � $ 4,999 $ (13)
        The Company has determined that the gross unrealized losses on its marketable securities at December 31, 2008 are temporary in nature.

5. Fair Value Measurements

        In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, "Fair Value Measurements" (SFAS 157). SFAS 157 defines fair value, provides a
consistent framework for measuring fair value GAAP and expands fair value financial statement disclosure requirements. SFAS 157 does not
require any new fair value measurements. It only applies to accounting pronouncements that already require or permit fair value measures,
except for standards that relate to share-based payments (SFAS 123(R)). The Company adopted SFAS 157 effective January 1, 2008.

        SFAS 157's valuation techniques are based on observable and unobservable inputs. Observable inputs reflect readily obtainable data from
independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect the Company's market assumptions. SFAS 157 classifies these inputs into the following
hierarchy:

        Level 1 Inputs�Quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets.

        Level 2 Inputs�Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are
not active; and model-derived valuations whose inputs are observable or whose significant value drivers are observable.
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        Level 3 Inputs�Unobservable inputs and little, if any, market activity for the assets.

        The fair value of these financial assets was determined using the following inputs at December 31, 2008:

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using
Quoted
Prices
in Active
Markets
for

Identical
Assets

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(in thousands) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
U.S. government securities $ 39,632 $ � $ � $ 39,632
U.S. government agency securities 28,103 966 � 29,069
U.S. corporate notes 9,712 9,965 � 19,677
U.S. commercial paper � 24,942 � 24,942
Certificates of deposit 60 � � 60
Money market funds 91,035 � � 91,035

Total $ 168,542 $ 35,873 $ � $204,415

        SFAS 157 requires separate disclosure of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis from those measured at fair value
on a nonrecurring basis.

6. Property and Equipment

        Property and equipment consists of the following:

December 31,
(in thousands) 2008 2007
Computer equipment $ 3,194 $ 3,407
Software 4,546 4,518
Furniture and fixtures 3,423 3,423
Laboratory equipment 26,621 27,028
Leasehold improvements 15,381 15,107

53,165 53,483
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (36,959) (33,392)

Property and equipment, net $ 16,206 $ 20,091

        Depreciation expense was $4.5 million, $4.1 million and $4.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
The change in accumulated depreciation is net of asset retirements.
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7. Long-Term Obligations

        Long-term obligations are as follows:

December 31,
(in thousands) 2008 2007
Convertible subordinated notes $172,500 $ �
Note payable to lessor 436 536

        On January 23, 2008, the Company closed an underwritten public offering of $172.5 million aggregate principal amount of unsecured
convertible subordinated notes which will mature on January 15, 2015. The financing raised proceeds, net of issuance costs, of $166.7 million.
The notes bear interest at the rate of 3.0% per year, which is payable semi-annually in arrears in cash on January 15 and July 15 of each year,
beginning on July 15, 2008. The notes are convertible, at the option of the holder, into shares of the Company's common stock at an initial
conversion rate of 38.6548 shares per $1,000 principal amount of the notes, subject to adjustment in certain circumstances, which represents an
initial conversion price of approximately $25.87 per share. The debt issuance costs, which are included in other long-term assets, are being
amortized on a straight-line basis over the life of the notes. Unamortized debt issuance costs totaled $5.0 million as of December 31, 2008.

        Holders of the notes will be able to require the Company to repurchase some or all of their notes upon the occurrence of a fundamental
change (as defined) at 100% of the principal amount of the notes being repurchased plus accrued and unpaid interest. The Company may not
redeem the notes prior to January 15, 2012. On or after January 15, 2012 and prior to the maturity date, the Company, upon notice of
redemption, may redeem for cash all or part of the notes if the last reported sale price of its common stock has been greater than or equal to
130% of the conversion price then in effect for at least 20 trading days during any 30 consecutive trading day period prior to the date on which it
provides notice of redemption. The redemption price will equal 100% of the principal amount of the notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and
unpaid interest up to but excluding the redemption date.

        In connection with the Company's lease agreement for its 60,000 square foot facility in South San Francisco, California (see Note 9), the
Company received approximately $0.9 million in July 2002 under a tenant improvement loan from the lessor, which is payable in monthly
installments through 2012, bears interest at 14.5% per annum and is secured by the underlying leasehold improvements.

        The aggregate maturities of the note payable for each of the remaining four years are as follows: $0.1 million in 2009, $0.1 million in 2010,
$0.2 million in 2011 and $42,000 in 2012.

8. Restructuring charges

        In April 2008 the Company announced a plan to reduce its workforce by approximately 40%. For the year ended December 31, 2008, the
Company recorded restructuring charges totaling $5.4 million. These amounts relate to severance, other termination benefits and outplacement
services and include a loss of $42,000 related to the sale of equipment.

68

Edgar Filing: Akebia Therapeutics, Inc. - Form SC 13D

56



Table of Contents

THERAVANCE, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

8. Restructuring charges (Continued)

        The following table summarizes the accrual balance and utilization by cost type for the restructuring for the year ended December 31, 2008:

(in thousands)

Employee
Severance and

Benefits
Restructuring charges accrued $ 5,533
Cash payments (4,874)
Adjustments (157)

Balance as of December 31, 2008 $ 502

        The remaining accrual as of December 31, 2008 and adjustments to the accrual through December 31, 2008 are related to employee
severance and related benefits. Several employees impacted by the plan have future service requirements extending beyond December 31, 2008.
As a result, the Company anticipates that approximately $0.1 million of additional severance and other termination benefits will be recognized
over the remaining service periods through the end of 2009. The execution of the plan is expected to be completed by the end of 2009 when the
remaining accrual is expected to be paid. The remaining restructuring accrual is recorded within accrued personnel-related expenses.

9. Operating Leases and Subleases

        The Company leases an 110,000 square foot facility and an adjacent 60,000 square foot facility in South San Francisco, California. Both of
the leases expire in 2012 and have two renewal options of five years each. As security for performance of its future obligations under these
leases, the Company has letters of credit for an aggregate $3.8 million, collateralized by an equal amount of restricted cash. If the Company's
unrestricted cash and marketable securities balance is less than $50.0 million during the terms of the leases, then the letters of credit must be
increased by an aggregate of $1.0 million.

        At December 31, 2008, the Company's future minimum commitments under noncancelable operating leases, net of sublease income, are as
follows:

(in thousands)

Minimum
Lease

Commitments
Year ending December 31:
2009 $ 6,278
2010 6,435
2011 6,596
2012 1,659

Total $ 20,968

        Expenses and income associated with operating leases were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2008 2007 2006
Rent expense $6,873 $6,958 $6,756
Sublease income, net � (128) (305)
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10. Commitments and Contingencies

Guarantees and Indemnifications

        The Company indemnifies its officers and directors for certain events or occurrences, subject to certain limits. The Company may be
subject to contingencies that may arise from matters such as product liability claims, legal proceedings, shareholder suits and tax matters, as
such, the Company is unable to estimate the potential exposure related to these indemnification agreements. The Company accrues for such
contingencies in accordance with SFAS No. 5, "Accounting for Contingencies". The Company has not recognized any liabilities relating to these
agreements as of December 31, 2008.

Purchase Obligations

        At December 31, 2008, the Company had outstanding purchase obligations on commercially reasonable terms, primarily for services under
contract research, development and clinical supply agreements totaling $2.9 million.

11. Stock-Based Compensation

Determining Fair Value of Stock-Based Compensation

        Under SFAS 123(R), the Company elected to continue to use the Black-Scholes valuation model for share-based payment awards granted.
The Company's determination of the fair value of share-based payment awards on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option valuation model
requires the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the expected stock price volatility and the expected life of the award. As the
Company has been operating as a public company for a period of time that is shorter than its estimated expected option life, the Company is
unable to use actual price volatility or option life data as input assumptions within its Black-Scholes valuation model when determining the fair
value of its stock options. As a result, the Company is continuing to use the "simplified" method as described in Staff Accounting Bulletin
No. 107 relating to SFAS 123(R) for expected option life and peer company price volatility. Both of these assumptions have resulted in
Black-Scholes inputs that are higher than actual results to date. The result of this is an increase in the value of estimated stock-based
compensation reflected in the Company's consolidated statements of operations.
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11. Stock-Based Compensation (Continued)

        The weighted-average assumptions used to value employee stock-based compensation for stock options granted and employee stock
purchase plan issuances were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006
Employee stock options
Risk-free interest rate 1.50% - 3.50% 3.48% - 5.03% 4.56% - 5.16%
Expected life (in years) 6 5 - 6 5 - 6
Volatility 0.49 - 0.57 0.46 - 0.49 0.48 - 0.51
Dividend yield �% �% �%
Weighted average estimated fair value of stock
options granted $6.19 $16.47 $15.65
Employee stock purchase plan issuances
Risk-free interest rate 0.25% - 2.80% 3.23% - 4.98% 4.70% - 5.08%
Expected life (in years) 0.5 - 2 0.5 - 2 0.5 - 2
Volatility 0.45 - 0.92 0.26 - 0.41 0.24 - 0.38
Dividend yield �% �% �%
Weighted average estimated fair value of ESPP
issuances $4.10 $8.17 $8.73

        Total stock-based compensation expense recognized for the year ended December 31, 2008 was $18.0 million, which consisted of
$16.9 million related to employee stock awards and employee stock purchases, $0.6 million related to the value of options and RSUs issued to
non-employees for services rendered and $0.5 million related to the value of shares of restricted stock. As of December 31, 2008, there was
$21.1 million and $14.1 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock options and RSUs, respectively. This cost is
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 2.34 years and 3.29 years for stock options and RSUs, respectively.
Total stock-based compensation expense recognized for the year ended December 31, 2007 was $22.5 million, which consisted of $21.8 million
related to employee stock awards and employee stock purchases, $0.3 million related to the value of options issued to non-employees for
services rendered and $0.4 million related to the value of shares of restricted stock. The Company has not recognized, and does not expect to
recognize in the near future, any tax benefit related to employee stock-based compensation costs as a result of the full valuation allowance on the
Company's net deferred tax assets including deferred tax assets related to its net operating loss carryforwards.

        The following table discloses the allocation of stock-based compensation expense included in the consolidated statements of operations:

Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2008 2007 2006
Research and development $10,264 $13,133 $12,635
General and administrative 7,755 9,361 9,196

Total stock-based compensation expense $18,019 $22,494 $21,831

        The Company does not currently pay dividends and does not intend to declare or pay cash dividends on its common stock in the foreseeable
future.
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11. Stock-Based Compensation (Continued)

Equity Incentive Plans

        The Company issues stock options, restricted stock awards and RSUs under the 2004 Equity Incentive Plan (which includes shares
remaining available for issuance under the Company's 1997 Stock Option Plan and Long-Term Stock Option Plan), as amended (the 2004 Plan)
and the 2008 New Employee Equity Incentive Plan (the 2008 Plan).

2008 New Employee Equity Incentive Plan

        In January 2008, the Company adopted the 2008 Plan and reserved 500,000 shares of common stock for issuance under the 2008 Plan. The
2008 Plan provides for the granting of non-qualified stock options, restricted stock awards and RSUs to newly hired employees. Stock options
may be granted with an exercise price not less than 100% of the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant. Stock options are
generally granted with terms of up to ten years and vest over a period of four years. During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company
granted stock options to purchase 192,250 shares at a weighted average stock price of $6.31 and granted 5,376 RSUs with a weighted-average
fair value of $6.15 per share under the 2008 Plan. As of December 31, 2008, total shares remaining available for issuance under the 2008 Plan
were 302,374.

2004 Equity Incentive Plan

        The 2004 Plan provides for the granting of stock options, restricted stock awards, stock appreciation rights and RSUs to employees,
officers, directors and consultants of the Company. Stock options may be granted with an exercise price not less than 100% of the fair market
value of the common stock on the date of grant. Stock options are generally granted with terms of up to ten years and vest over a period of four
years. During the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, the Company granted stock options to purchase 191,500, 2,127,256 and
1,645,699 shares, respectively, at weighted average stock prices of $18.08, $32.06 and $28.74, respectively, under the 2004 Plan. During the
year ended December 31, 2008, the Company granted 1,042,113 RSUs with a weighted-average fair value of $16.33 per share under the 2004
Plan. As of December 31, 2008, total shares remaining available for issuance under the 2004 Plan were 1,366,701.

        During the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company granted 113,636 and 2,061,206 performance-contingent RSUs,
respectively, to employees. These performance-contingent RSUs have dual triggers of vesting based upon the successful achievement of certain
corporate operating milestones during 2009, as well as a requirement for continued employment through 2009 and 2010. The issuance of shares
underlying the RSUs would occur, if at all, during 2009 and 2010. Expense associated with RSUs will be recognized, if at all, during 2009,
depending on the probability of meeting the performance milestones. In early 2008, the Compensation Committee of the Company's Board of
Directors approved management's recommendation to modify certain performance milestones and cancel 25% of the performance-contingent
RSUs granted to senior management in 2007. In addition, in July 2008, the Compensation Committee amended the performance-contingent
RSUs held by non-executive employees such that half of the RSUs, or 465,819 RSUs with a revised fair value of $12.16 per share, will vest over
time and the other half will remain subject to certain performance targets. After these amendments and cancellations for terminated employees,
the total remaining outstanding performance-contingent RSUs is 1,001,596 and the maximum potential expense associated with these RSUs
could be up to approximately $30.7 million (allocated as $14.5 million for research
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11. Stock-Based Compensation (Continued)

and development expense and $16.2 million for general and administrative expense) if all of the milestones are successfully achieved on time.
The total intrinsic value of performance-contingent RSUs at December 31, 2008 and 2007 was $12.4 million and $39.9 million, respectively.
The total intrinsic value of RSUs that vest over time at December 31, 2008 was $15.6 million. As of December 31, 2008, the Company had
determined that none of the requisite performance milestones were probable and as a result, no compensation expense has been recognized. As
vesting of the performance-contingent RSUs is dependent upon the successful achievement of the performance conditions, the expense
associated with these RSUs may vary significantly from period to period. No RSUs that vest over time vested for the years ended December 31,
2008 and 2007.

        The following table summarizes equity award activity under the 2008 Plan and the 2004 Plan, and related information:

Number
of

Shares
Available

for
Grant

Number
of Shares
Subject to
Outstanding
Options

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price
of Outstanding

Options

Number
of Shares
Subject to
Outstanding

RSUs

Weighted-Average
Fair Value per
Share at Grant

(In thousands, except per share data)
Balance at December 31, 2005 2,269 10,096 $ 9.82 � $ �
Granted (1,646) 1,646 $ 28.74 � $ �
Exercised � (910) $ 5.71 � $ �
Forfeited 442 (442) $ 15.82 � $ �
Shares repurchased 5 � $ 3.10 � $ �

Balance at December 31, 2006 1,070 10,390 $ 12.92 � $ �
Additional shares authorized 3,500 � $ � � $ �
Granted (4,259) 2,127 $ 32.06 2,061 $ 32.45
Exercised � (815) $ 6.93 � $ �
Forfeited 282 (266) $ 24.61 (16) $ 33.25

Balance at December 31, 2007 593 11,436 $ 16.63 2,045 $ 32.44
Additional shares authorized 500 � � � �
Granted (1,431) 384 $ 12.18 1,047 $ 16.28
Exercised � (692) $ 6.76 � $ �
Forfeited 2,007 (1,175) $ 26.30 (832) $ 30.56

Balance at December 31, 2008 1,669 9,953 $ 16.01 2,260 $ 21.51

        No options were granted with exercise prices less than fair value of common stock on the date of grant during the years ended
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006.
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        As of December 31, 2008, all outstanding options to purchase common stock of the Company are summarized in the following table (in
thousands, except years and per share data):

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Range of Exercise Prices
Number

Outstanding

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life in
Years

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Prices

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

Options
Exercisable

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life in
Years

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

$1.32 26 1.1 $ 1.32 26 1.1 $ 1.32
$3.10 968 4.4 $ 3.10 968 4.4 $ 3.10
$6.15 - $6.70 190 9.9 $ 6.22 � � �
$8.53 2,338 2.6 $ 8.53 2,338 2.8 $ 8.53
$9.69 1,706 4.8 $ 9.69 1,285 5.3 $ 9.69
$12.40 - $18.25 1,165 6.1 $ 16.26 911 6.0 $ 16.28
$18.26 - $21.70 848 6.2 $ 19.21 708 6.4 $ 19.08
$21.71 - $29.65 1,397 7.2 $ 28.07 893 7.3 $ 28.43
$29.66 - $35.46 1,315 8.0 $ 33.60 635 8.2 $ 33.60

Total 9,953 5.4 $ 16.01 $ 24,099 7,764 5.1 $ 14.23 $ 21,789

        As of December 31, 2008, the aggregate intrinsic value of the options outstanding and the options exercisable was $24.1 million and
$21.8 million, respectively.

        The total intrinsic value of the options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $4.9 million, $19.0 million
and $17.7 million, respectively. The total fair value of options vested for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $20.4 million,
$32.5 million and $5.1 million, respectively. The fair value of options vested for the year ended December 31, 2008 was significantly lower
when compared to 2007 due to the number of options that vested at the expiration of the put period in September 2007.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

        On May 27, 2004 the Company's board of directors adopted the 2004 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP) that became effective on the
date of the Company's initial public offering. Under the ESPP, the Company's non-officer employees may purchase common stock through
payroll deductions at a price equal to 85 percent of the lower of the fair market value of the stock at the beginning of the offering period or at the
end of each applicable purchase period. The ESPP provides for consecutive and overlapping offering periods of 24 months in duration, with
each offering period composed of four consecutive six-month purchase periods. The purchase periods end on either May 15th or November 15th.
ESPP contributions are limited to a maximum of 15 percent of an employee's eligible compensation.

        The Company's ESPP plan also includes a feature that provides for a new offering period to begin when the fair market value of the
Company's common stock on any purchase date during an offering period falls below the fair market value of the Company's common stock on
the first day of such offering period. This feature is called a reset. The Company had resets for new twenty-four month offering periods starting
on November 16, 2007, May 16, 2008 and November 16, 2008. The Company
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applied modification accounting in accordance with SFAS 123(R) to determine the incremental fair value associated with the ESPP resets and
recognized the related stock-based compensation expense according to the FASB Technical Bulletin, or FTB, No. 97-1, "Accounting under
Statement 123 for Certain Employee Stock Purchase Plans with a Look-back Option." For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, the
Company recognized $0.4 million and $0.1 million, respectively, in incremental fair value for the ESPP resets. Including the incremental fair
value for the ESPP resets, the total stock-based compensation expense recognized relating to the ESPP for the years ended December 31, 2008
and 2007 was $0.9 million and $1.4 million, respectively.

        As of December 31, 2008, a total of 925,000 shares of common stock were approved and authorized for issuance under the ESPP. Through
December 31, 2008, the Company issued 644,785 shares under the ESPP at an average price of $13.91 per share.

Reserved Shares

        The Company has reserved shares of common stock for future issuance as follows:

December 31,
(shares in thousands) 2008 2007
Stock option plans:
Subject to outstanding options and RSUs 12,213 13,481
Available for future grants 1,669 593

Available for future ESPP grants 280 180

Total 14,162 14,254

Restricted Stock

        The Company's board of directors approved the grant of 50,000 shares of restricted stock in 2005 and 71,000 shares of restricted stock in
2007 to members of the Company's management. These restricted shares of common stock vest based on continued service, with pre-determined
vesting percentages and anniversary dates. The Company valued the awards based on the closing market price of the Company's common stock
on the date of the respective awards. The 50,000 share award from 2005 was valued at $0.9 million, a 50,000 share award from 2007 was valued
at $1.3 million and a 21,000 award from 2007 was valued at $0.5 million. The fair value of restricted stock that vested for the years ended
December 31, 2008 and 2007 was $0.4 million for each year. The total intrinsic value of unvested restricted stock at December 31, 2008, 2007
and 2006 was $0.9 million, $1.9 million and $1.5 million, respectively. The Company recognized stock-based compensation expense of
$0.5 million, $0.4 million and $0.3 million related to these awards for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Director Compensation Program

        Pursuant to the Company's director compensation program, each independent director receives an annual retainer plus a fee for attending
each board and committee meeting. The Chairman of the Board receives a flat rate per year for his service. Also under this program, each
independent director who first becomes a director after January 1, 2008 is automatically granted an initial RSU award for
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12,000 shares of common stock that vest monthly over the first two years of service. In addition, at each annual stockholder meeting beginning
in 2008, each independent director is automatically granted an RSU award for 6,000 shares of common stock that vest monthly over one year.

12. Income Taxes

        Due to operating losses and the inability to recognize an income tax benefit, there is no provision for income taxes.

        Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components of the Company's deferred tax assets are as follows:

December 31,
(in thousands) 2008 2007
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 244,000 $ 208,000
Deferred revenues 70,000 75,000
Capitalized research and development expenditures 34,000 33,000
Research and development tax credit carryforwards 28,000 26,000
Other 25,000 21,000
Valuation allowance (401,000) (363,000)

Net deferred tax assets $ � $ �

        Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent on future taxable income, if any, the timing and the amount of which are uncertain.
Accordingly, the deferred tax assets have been fully offset by a valuation allowance. The valuation allowance increased by $38.0 million,
$63.0 million and $69.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

        As of December 31, 2008, the Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $735.2 million and federal research
and development tax credit carryforwards of approximately $33.4 million, which will expire from 2011 through 2028. The Company also had
state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $122.9 million expiring in the years 2013 through 2028 and state research tax credits of
approximately $35.6 million, which carry forward indefinitely.

        As a result of SFAS 123(R), the net operating loss deferred tax asset balances at December 31, 2008 and 2007 do not include excess tax
benefits from stock option exercises. Equity will be increased if and when such excess tax benefits are ultimately realized.

        Utilization of net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards may be subject to a substantial annual limitation due to the ownership change
limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Code and similar state provisions. The Company conducted an analysis to determine whether an
ownership change had occurred since inception. The analysis indicated that two ownership changes occurred in prior years. However,
notwithstanding the applicable annual limitations, no portion of the net operating loss or credit carryforwards are expected to expire before
becoming available to reduce federal and state income tax liabilities. Annual limitations may result in expiration of net operating loss and tax
credit carryforwards before some or all of such amounts have been utilized.
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Uncertain Tax Positions

        The Company adopted FIN 48 effective January 1, 2007. The adoption of FIN 48 did not result in an adjustment to the beginning balance of
the Company's accumulated deficit.

        A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the total amounts of gross unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in thousands):

Gross unrecognized tax benefits at January 1, 2007 $26,700
Gross increase for tax positions for prior years �
Gross decrease for tax positions for prior years �
Gross increase in tax positions for current year 6,500
Settlements �
Reduction for lapse of statute of limitations �
Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2007 33,200

Gross increase for tax positions for prior years �
Gross decrease for tax positions for prior years �
Gross increase in tax positions for current year 3,000
Settlements �
Reduction for lapse of statute of limitations �

Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2008 $36,200

        If the Company is eventually able to recognize these uncertain positions, most of the $36.2 million of the unrecognized benefit would
reduce the effective tax rate, except for excess tax benefits related to share-based payments. The Company currently has a full valuation
allowance against its deferred tax asset which would impact the timing of the effective tax rate benefit should any of these uncertain positions be
favorably settled in the future. The Company does not believe it is reasonably possible that its unrecognized tax benefits will significantly
change within the next twelve months.

        The Company is subject to taxation in the U.S. and various state jurisdictions. The tax years 1996 and forward remain open to examination
by the federal and most state tax authorities due to net operating loss and overall credit carryforward positions.

13. Quarterly Consolidated Results of Operations (Unaudited)

        The following table presents certain unaudited consolidated quarterly financial information for the eight quarters in the period ended
December 31, 2008. This information has been prepared on the same basis as the audited Consolidated Financial Statements and includes all
adjustments (consisting
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only of normal recurring adjustments) necessary to present fairly the unaudited quarterly results of operations set forth herein.

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
(in thousands except per share data)

2008:
Revenue $ 5,645 $ 5,505 $ 5,999 $ 5,947
Operating expenses (35,945) (32,315) (26,619) (21,421)
Loss from operations (30,300) (26,810) (20,620) (15,474)
Net loss (29,764) (27,026) (20,928) (15,925)
Net loss per common share: $ (0.49) $ (0.44) $ (0.34) $ (0.26)

2007:
Revenue $ 5,398 $ 5,305 $ 5,669 $ 5,630
Operating expenses (57,656) (53,009) (40,426) (39,476)
Loss from operations (52,258) (47,704) (34,757) (33,846)
Net loss (49,450) (45,125) (32,364) (33,058)
Net loss per common share: $ (0.82) $ (0.75) $ (0.53) $ (0.54)

14. Subsequent Event

        In February 2009, the Company entered into a sublease agreement with a third party to sublease excess space in a portion of one of its
South San Francisco, CA buildings. The sublease has a 37 month term that begins March 2009. In the quarter ending March 31, 2009, the
Company expects to record an additional restructuring charge of $1.1 million which represents the fair value of the Company's lease payments
and expenses less sublease income through March 2012.
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 REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Theravance, Inc.

        We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Theravance, Inc. (the "Company") as of December 31, 2008 and 2007,
and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity (net capital deficiency), and cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2008. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

        We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

        In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of
Theravance, Inc. at December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2008, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

        We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
Theravance, Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 24, 2009
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

        /s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Palo Alto, California
February 24, 2009
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 ITEM 9.    CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

        Not applicable.

 ITEM 9A.    CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures.

        We conducted an evaluation as of December 31, 2008, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures,
which are defined under SEC rules as controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by a company in the reports that it files under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Exchange Act) is recorded, processed, summarized
and reported within required time periods. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that,
as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

        Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in
Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act. Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our
management and directors; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

        Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on criteria established in the Internal
Control�Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Management's assessment
included evaluation of such elements as the design and operating effectiveness of key financial reporting controls, process documentation,
accounting policies, and our overall control environment. Based on this evaluation, our management concluded that our internal control over
financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2008.

        Our independent registered public accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP, has audited our internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2008. The report on the audit of internal control over financial reporting is included below.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

        Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our disclosure controls and
procedures or our internal control over financial reporting will prevent all error and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived
and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a
control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefit of controls must be considered relative to their costs.
Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and
instances of fraud, if any, within Theravance have been detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of
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effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

        There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act) identified in
connection with the evaluation required by paragraph (d) of Rule 13a-15 of the Exchange Act, which occurred during the fourth fiscal quarter of
the year ended December 31, 2008 which has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.
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 REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Theravance, Inc.

        We have audited Theravance, Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in
Internal Control�Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria).
Theravance, Inc.'s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

        We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

        A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

        Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

        In our opinion, Theravance, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2008, based on the COSO criteria.

        We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Theravance, Inc. as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
stockholders' equity (net capital deficiency), and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2008 of
Theravance, Inc. and our report dated February 24, 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

        /s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Palo Alto, California
February 24, 2009

82

Edgar Filing: Akebia Therapeutics, Inc. - Form SC 13D

70



Table of Contents

 ITEM 9B.    OTHER INFORMATION

        None.

 PART III

 ITEM 10.    DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

        For the information required by this Item, see "Questions and Answers About this Proxy Material and Voting", "Election of Directors",
"Nominees", "Meetings of the Board of Directors", "Executive Officers", "Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance", "Audit
Committee" and "Code of Business Conduct" in the Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC, which sections are incorporated herein by
reference.

 ITEM 11.    EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

        For the information required by this Item, see "Compensation of Executive Officers", "Compensation Committee Report" and
"Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation" in the Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC, which sections are incorporated
herein by reference.

 ITEM 12.    SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

        For the information required by this Item, see "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management" and "Securities
Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans" in the Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC, which sections are incorporated
herein by reference.

 ITEM 13.    CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

        For the information required by this Item, see "Independence of the Board of Directors", "Related Person Transactions" and "Review,
Approval or Ratification of Transactions with Related Persons" in the Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC, which sections are incorporated
herein by reference.

 ITEM 14.    PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

        For the information required by this Item, see "Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm's Fees" and "Pre-Approval Policies and
Procedures" in the Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC, which sections are incorporated herein by reference.
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 PART IV

 ITEM 15.    EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a)
The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

1.
Financial Statements:

        The following financial statements and schedules of the Registrant are contained in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2008 and 2007 51
Consolidated Statements of Operations for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2008 52
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity (net capital deficiency)
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2008 53
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2008 54
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 55
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 79

2.
Financial Statement Schedules:

        All schedules are omitted because they are either not applicable or the required information is shown in the Consolidated Financial
Statements or notes thereto.

3.
Exhibits

        The representations and warranties made by the parties to the agreements listed below were made solely for purposes of the agreements and
to allocate risk between the parties. You should not rely on the representations, warranties or covenants in these agreements.

Exhibit
Number Description Form

Filing
Date/Period
End Date

3.3 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation S-1 7/26/04
3.4 Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificate of Incorporation 10-Q 3/31/07
3.5 Amended and Restated Bylaws (as amended by the board of

directors April 25, 2007)
10-Q 9/30/08

4.1 Specimen certificate representing the common stock of the
registrant

10-K 12/31/06

4.2 Amended and Restated Rights Agreement between the registrant
and The Bank of New York, as Rights Agent, dated as of June 22,
2007

10-Q 6/30/07

4.3 Indenture dated as of January 23, 2008 by and between
Theravance, Inc. and The Bank of New York Trust Company,
N.A., as trustee

8-K 1/23/08

4.4 Form of 3.0% Convertible Subordinated Note Due 2015 (included
in Exhibit 4.3)

4.5 Amendment to Amended and Restated Rights Agreement
between the registrant and The Bank of New York Mellon
Corporation, as Rights Agent, dated November 21, 2008

8-K 11/25/08

10.1+ 1997 Stock Plan S-1 6/10/04
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Exhibit
Number Description Form

Filing
Date/Period
End Date

10.3+ 2004 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended December 6, 2006 10-K 12/31/06
10.4 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as adopted May 27, 2004, and

amended April 19, 2005 and December 11, 2007
10-Q 3/31/08

10.5+ Change in Control Severance Plan, as amended and restated on
July 27, 2007

10-Q 6/30/08

10.8 Amended and Restated Lease Agreement, 951 Gateway
Boulevard, between the registrant and HMS Gateway Office L.P.,
dated January 1, 2001

S-1 6/10/04

10.9 Lease Agreement, 901 Gateway Boulevard, between the registrant
and HMS Gateway Office L.P., dated January 1, 2001

S-1 6/10/04

10.10* Collaboration Agreement between the registrant and Glaxo Group
Limited, dated as of November 14, 2002

S-1 9/29/04

10.11+ Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors and officers of
the registrant

S-1 6/10/04

10.12 Class A Common Stock Purchase Agreement between the
registrant and SmithKline Beecham Corporation, dated as of
March 30, 2004

S-1 6/10/04

10.13 Amended and Restated Investors' Rights Agreement by and
among the registrant and the parties listed therein, dated as of
May 11, 2004

S-1 6/10/04

10.14 Amended and Restated Governance Agreement by and among the
registrant, SmithKline Beecham Corporation and
GlaxoSmithKline dated as of June 4, 2004

S-1 7/26/04

10.15* Strategic Alliance Agreement between the registrant and Glaxo
Group Limited, dated as of March 30, 2004

S-1 9/30/04

10.16* License Agreement between the registrant and Janssen
Pharmaceutica, dated as of May 14, 2002

S-1 9/29/04

10.17+ Offer Letter with Rick E Winningham dated August 23, 2001 S-1 6/10/04
10.18 Form of Class A Common Stock Purchase Agreement between

the registrant and GSK
S-1 9/29/04

10.19+ Offer Letter with Michael W. Aguiar dated as of January 31, 2005 10-K 12/31/04
10.20+ Form of Notice of Grant and Stock Option Agreement under 2004

Equity Incentive Plan
10-K 12/31/04

10.21+ Form of Notice of Restricted Stock Award and Restricted Stock
Agreement under 2004 Equity Incentive Plan

10-Q 6/30/07

10.22+ Description of Cash Bonus Program, as amended 10-K 12/31/06
10.23* License, Development and Commercialization Agreement

between the registrant and Astellas Pharma Inc. dated
November 7, 2005

S-3 1/30/06

10.24+ Form of Notice of Stock Option Grant and Stock Option
Agreement between the registrant and P. Roy Vagelos

8-K 5/2/06
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Exhibit
Number Description Form

Filing
Date/Period
End Date

10.25* TD-6424 Active Pharmaceutical Ingredient Supply Agreement
among the registrant, ScinoPharm Taiwan, Ltd. and Biddle
Sawyer Pharma LLC dated as of May 10, 2002

10-Q 6/30/06

10.26* Amendment No. 4 to TD-6424 Supply Agreement among the
registrant, ScinoPharm Taiwan, Ltd. and Biddle Sawyer
Pharma LLC dated as of May 11, 2006

10-Q 6/30/06

10.27* Amendment to License, Development and Commercialization
Agreement between the registrant and Astellas Pharma Inc. dated
as of July 18, 2006

10-Q 9/30/06

10.28+ Form of Notice of Stock Option Grant and Stock Option
Agreement under 2004 Equity Incentive Plan (form in effect from
2007)

10-Q 6/30/07

10.29+ Form of Non-Employee Director Notice of Stock Option Grant
and Stock Option Agreement under 2004 Equity Incentive Plan
(form in effect through 2006)

10-Q 6/30/07

10.30+ Form of Non-Employee Director Notice of Stock Option Grant
and Stock Option Agreement under 2004 Equity Incentive Plan
(form in effect from 2007)

10-Q 6/30/07

10.31+ Form of Performance-Contingent Notice of Restricted Stock Unit
Award and Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under 2004 Equity
Incentive Plan

10-Q 6/30/07

10.32+ Offer letter with Leonard Blum dated July 27, 2007 10-Q 9/30/07
10.33* First Addendum to the Terms & Conditions Dated February 17,

2004 between the registrant and Ben Venue Laboratories, Inc.
dated September 21, 2007

10-Q 9/30/07

10.34+ Form of Time-Based Vesting Notice of Restricted Stock Unit
Award and Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under 2004 Equity
Incentive Plan

10-K 12/31/07

10.35+ 2008 New Employee Equity Incentive Plan 10-K 12/31/07
10.36+ Form of Notice of Grant and Stock Option Agreement under 2008

New Employee Equity Incentive Plan
10-K 12/31/07

10.37+ Form of Time-Based Vesting Notice of Restricted Stock Unit
Award and Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under 2004 Equity
Incentive Plan between the registrant and P. Roy Vagelos

10-Q 3/31/08

10.38+ Form of Non-Employee Director Time-Based Vesting Notice of
Initial Restricted Stock Unit Award and Restricted Stock Unit
Agreement under 2004 Equity Incentive Plan

10-Q 3/31/08

10.39+ Form of Non-Employee Director Time-Based Vesting Notice of
Annual Restricted Stock Unit Award and Restricted Stock Unit
Agreement under 2004 Equity Incentive Plan

10-Q 3/31/08

10.40+ Form of Time-Based Vesting Notice of Restricted Stock Unit
Award and Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under 2004 Equity
Incentive Plan (sales plan applicable to more than one award)

10-Q 6/30/08
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Exhibit
Number Description Form

Filing
Date/Period
End Date

10.41+ Form of Time-Based Vesting Notice of Restricted Stock Unit
Award and Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under 2004 Equity
Incentive Plan (sales plan applicable to one award)

10-Q 6/30/08

10.42+ Separation Agreement between Michael Kitt and the registrant
dated June 22, 2008

10-Q 6/30/08

10.43+ Form of Notice of Restricted Stock Unit Award and Restricted
Stock Unit Agreement under 2008 New Employee Equity
Incentive Plan

10-Q 9/30/08

10.44+ Consulting Agreement dated June 18, 2008 between the registrant
and Michael Kitt, M.D.

8-K 6/19/08

10.45+ Consulting Agreement dated December 6, 2008 between the
registrant and Dr. Arthur Campbell

8-K 12/11/08

10.46+ Separation Agreement between Theravance, Inc. and Dr. Arthur
Campbell dated December 11, 2008

8-K 12/11/08

10.47+ Amendment to Offer Letter between the registrant and Leonard
Blum dated July 23, 2008

10.48+ Amendment to Offer Letter between the registrant and Rick E
Winningham dated December 23, 2008

10.49+ Description of long-term cash bonus arrangement with Mathai
Mammen

10.50+ Form of Time-Based Vesting Notice of Restricted Stock Unit
Award and Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under 2004 Equity
Incentive Plan (executive officer replenishment 2009)

10.51+ Form of Time-Based Vesting Notice of Restricted Stock Unit
Award and Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under 2004 Equity
Incentive Plan (employee replenishment 2009)

21.1 List of Subsidiaries 10-K 12/31/05
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
24.1 Power of Attorney (see signature page to this Annual Report on

Form 10-K)
31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14

under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14

under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
32 Certifications Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

+
Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed pursuant to Item 15(b) of Form 10-K.

*
Confidential treatment has been requested for certain portions which are omitted in the copy of the exhibit electronically filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission. The omitted information has been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange
Commission pursuant to Theravance Inc.'s application for confidential treatment.
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 SIGNATURES

        Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

THERAVANCE, INC.

Date: February 26, 2009 By: /s/ RICK E WINNINGHAM

Rick E Winningham
Chief Executive Officer

 POWER OF ATTORNEY

        KNOWN ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Rick E
Winningham and Michael W. Aguiar, each of whom may act without joinder of the other, as their true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents,
each with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for such person and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign
any and all amendments to the annual report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection
therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents full power and authority to do and
perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or
she could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or their substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to
be done by virtue hereof.

        Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ P. ROY VAGELOS, M.D.

P. Roy Vagelos, M.D
Chairman of the Board and Directors February 26,

2009

/s/ RICK E WINNINGHAM

Rick E Winningham

Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

February 26,
2009

/s/ MICHAEL W. AGUIAR

Michael W. Aguiar

Senior Vice President, Finance and
Chief Financial Officer (Principal
Financial and Accounting Officer)

February 26,
2009

/s/ JEFFREY M. DRAZAN

Jeffrey M. Drazan
Director February 26,

2009
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Signature Title Date

/s/ ROBERT V. GUNDERSON, JR.

Robert V. Gunderson, Jr.
Director February 26,

2009

/s/ ARNOLD J. LEVINE, PH.D.

Arnold J. Levine, Ph.D
Director February 26,

2009

/s/ BURTON G. MALKIEL

Burton G. Malkiel
Director February 26,

2009

/s/ WILLIAM H. WALTRIP

William H. Waltrip
Director February 26,

2009

/s/ GEORGE M. WHITESIDES,
PH.D.

George M. Whitesides, Ph.D

Director February 26,
2009

/s/ WILLIAM D. YOUNG

William D. Young
Director February 26,

2009
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 Exhibits

Incorporated by
Reference

Exhibit
Number Description Form

Filing
Date/Period
End Date

3.3 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation S-1 7/26/04

3.4 Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificate of Incorporation 10-Q 3/31/07

3.5 Amended and Restated Bylaws (as amended by the board of
directors April 25, 2007)

10-Q 9/30/08

4.1 Specimen certificate representing the common stock of the
registrant

10-K 12/31/06

4.2 Amended and Restated Rights Agreement between the registrant
and The Bank of New York, as Rights Agent, dated as of June 22,
2007

10-Q 6/30/07

4.3 Indenture dated as of January 23, 2008 by and between
Theravance, Inc. and The Bank of New York Trust Company,
N.A., as trustee

8-K 1/23/08

4.4 Form of 3.0% Convertible Subordinated Note Due 2015 (included
in Exhibit 4.3)

4.5 Amendment to Amended and Restated Rights Agreement
between the registrant and The Bank of New York Mellon
Corporation, as Rights Agent, dated November 21, 2008

8-K 11/25/08

10.1+ 1997 Stock Plan S-1 6/10/04

10.2+ Long-Term Stock Option Plan S-1 6/10/04

10.3+ 2004 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended December 6, 2006 10-K 12/31/06

10.4 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as adopted May 27, 2004, and
amended April 19, 2005 and December 11, 2007

10-Q 3/31/08

10.5+ Change in Control Severance Plan, as amended and restated on
July 27, 2007

10-Q 6/30/08

10.8 Amended and Restated Lease Agreement, 951 Gateway
Boulevard, between the registrant and HMS Gateway Office L.P.,
dated January 1, 2001

S-1 6/10/04

10.9 Lease Agreement, 901 Gateway Boulevard, between the registrant
and HMS Gateway Office L.P., dated January 1, 2001

S-1 6/10/04

10.10* Collaboration Agreement between the registrant and Glaxo Group
Limited, dated as of November 14, 2002

S-1 9/29/04

10.11+ Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors and officers of S-1 6/10/04
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the registrant

10.12 Class A Common Stock Purchase Agreement between the
registrant and SmithKline Beecham Corporation, dated as of
March 30, 2004

S-1 6/10/04

10.13 Amended and Restated Investors' Rights Agreement by and
among the registrant and the parties listed therein, dated as of
May 11, 2004

S-1 6/10/04

10.14 Amended and Restated Governance Agreement by and among the
registrant, SmithKline Beecham Corporation and
GlaxoSmithKline dated as of June 4, 2004

S-1 7/26/04
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Incorporated by
Reference

Exhibit
Number Description Form

Filing
Date/Period
End Date

10.15* Strategic Alliance Agreement between the registrant and Glaxo
Group Limited, dated as of March 30, 2004

S-1 9/30/04

10.16* License Agreement between the registrant and Janssen
Pharmaceutica, dated as of May 14, 2002

S-1 9/29/04

10.17+ Offer Letter with Rick E Winningham dated August 23, 2001 S-1 6/10/04

10.18 Form of Class A Common Stock Purchase Agreement between
the registrant and GSK

S-1 9/29/04

10.19+ Offer Letter with Michael W. Aguiar dated as of January 31, 2005 10-K 12/31/04

10.20+ Form of Notice of Grant and Stock Option Agreement under 2004
Equity Incentive Plan

10-K 12/31/04

10.21+ Form of Notice of Restricted Stock Award and Restricted Stock
Agreement under 2004 Equity Incentive Plan

10-Q 6/30/07

10.22+ Description of Cash Bonus Program, as amended 10-K 12/31/06

10.23* License, Development and Commercialization Agreement
between the registrant and Astellas Pharma Inc. dated
November 7, 2005

S-3 1/30/06

10.24+ Form of Notice of Stock Option Grant and Stock Option
Agreement between the registrant and P. Roy Vagelos

8-K 5/2/06

10.25* TD-6424 Active Pharmaceutical Ingredient Supply Agreement
among the registrant, ScinoPharm Taiwan, Ltd. and Biddle
Sawyer Pharma LLC dated as of May 10, 2002

10-Q 6/30/06

10.26* Amendment No. 4 to TD-6424 Supply Agreement among the
registrant, ScinoPharm Taiwan, Ltd. and Biddle Sawyer
Pharma LLC dated as of May 11, 2006

10-Q 6/30/06

10.27* Amendment to License, Development and Commercialization
Agreement between the registrant and Astellas Pharma Inc. dated
as of July 18, 2006

10-Q 9/30/06

10.28+ Form of Notice of Stock Option Grant and Stock Option
Agreement under 2004 Equity Incentive Plan (form in effect from
2007)

10-Q 6/30/07

10.29+ Form of Non-Employee Director Notice of Stock Option Grant
and Stock Option Agreement under 2004 Equity Incentive Plan
(form in effect through 2006)

10-Q 6/30/07

10.30+ Form of Non-Employee Director Notice of Stock Option Grant
and Stock Option Agreement under 2004 Equity Incentive Plan
(form in effect from 2007)

10-Q 6/30/07
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10.31+ Form of Performance-Contingent Notice of Restricted Stock Unit
Award and Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under 2004 Equity
Incentive Plan

10-Q 6/30/07

10.32+ Offer letter with Leonard Blum dated July 27, 2007 10-Q 9/30/07

10.33* First Addendum to the Terms & Conditions Dated February 17,
2004 between the registrant and Ben Venue Laboratories, Inc.
dated September 21, 2007

10-Q 9/30/07
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Incorporated by
Reference

Exhibit
Number Description Form

Filing
Date/Period
End Date

10.34+ Form of Time-Based Vesting Notice of Restricted Stock Unit
Award and Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under 2004 Equity
Incentive Plan

10-K 12/31/07

10.35+ 2008 New Employee Equity Incentive Plan 10-K 12/31/07

10.36+ Form of Notice of Grant and Stock Option Agreement under 2008
New Employee Equity Incentive Plan

10-K 12/31/07

10.37+ Form of Time-Based Vesting Notice of Restricted Stock Unit
Award and Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under 2004 Equity
Incentive Plan between the registrant and P. Roy Vagelos

10-Q 3/31/08

10.38+ Form of Non-Employee Director Time-Based Vesting Notice of
Initial Restricted Stock Unit Award and Restricted Stock Unit
Agreement under 2004 Equity Incentive Plan

10-Q 3/31/08

10.39+ Form of Non-Employee Director Time-Based Vesting Notice of
Annual Restricted Stock Unit Award and Restricted Stock Unit
Agreement under 2004 Equity Incentive Plan

10-Q 3/31/08

10.40+ Form of Time-Based Vesting Notice of Restricted Stock Unit
Award and Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under 2004 Equity
Incentive Plan (sales plan applicable to more than one award)

10-Q 6/30/08

10.41+ Form of Time-Based Vesting Notice of Restricted Stock Unit
Award and Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under 2004 Equity
Incentive Plan (sales plan applicable to one award)

10-Q 6/30/08

10.42+ Separation Agreement between Michael Kitt and the registrant
dated June 22, 2008

10-Q 6/30/08

10.43+ Form of Notice of Restricted Stock Unit Award and Restricted
Stock Unit Agreement under 2008 New Employee Equity
Incentive Plan

10-Q 9/30/08

10.44+ Consulting Agreement dated June 18, 2008 between the registrant
and Michael Kitt, M.D.

8-K 6/19/08

10.45+ Consulting Agreement dated December 6, 2008 between the
registrant and Dr. Arthur Campbell

8-K 12/11/08

10.46+ Separation Agreement between Theravance, Inc. and Dr. Arthur
Campbell dated December 11, 2008

8-K 12/11/08

10.47+ Amendment to Offer Letter between the registrant and Leonard
Blum dated July 23, 2008

10.48+ Amendment to Offer Letter between the registrant and Rick E
Winningham dated December 23, 2008

10.49+ Description of long-term cash bonus arrangement with Mathai
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Mammen

10.50+ Form of Time-Based Vesting Notice of Restricted Stock Unit
Award and Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under 2004 Equity
Incentive Plan (executive officer replenishment 2009)
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Incorporated by
Reference

Exhibit
Number Description Form

Filing
Date/Period
End Date

10.51+ Form of Time-Based Vesting Notice of Restricted Stock Unit
Award and Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under 2004 Equity
Incentive Plan (employee replenishment 2009)

21.1 List of Subsidiaries 10-K 12/31/05

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

24.1 Power of Attorney (see signature page to this Annual Report on
Form 10-K)

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

32 Certifications Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

+
Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed pursuant to Item 15(b) of Form 10-K.

*
Confidential treatment has been requested for certain portions which are omitted in the copy of the exhibit electronically filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission. The omitted information has been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange
Commission pursuant to Theravance Inc.'s application for confidential treatment.
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